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Typical accounting studies attempting to explain accounting method choice employ 

positive theoretical hypotheses and test for association between adoption method or 

adoption timing and economic measures that focus upon specific firm stakeholders. Such 

studies addressing the adoption and impact of SFAS 87, "Employer's Accounting for 

Pensions," yield mixed and contradicting results. Various researchers have suggested that 

traditional economic analysis often fails to capture important explanatory variables and is 

far too simplistic. The purpose of this study is to expand analysis by evaluating a 

particular accounting choice by means of three different characterizations. 

SFAS 106, "Employers' Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other than 

Pensions," allows management to choose between two very different methods of adopting 

the standard. The principal question explored in this study is: why did managers of firms 

that employ defined benefit postretirement plans for benefits other than pensions choose to 

adopt SFAS 106 using a particular method? The research question is explored by means 

of three different characterizations: 1) a traditional economic characterization; 2) a socio-

political characterization); and 3) a joint decision characterization. Logit methodology is 

used with method of SFAS 106 adoption as the binary dependent variable of interest. 



Results indicate that all three characterizations are important in understanding the SFAS 

106 adoption method choice. Further, each characterization adds separate information 

toward comprehension of the choice, supporting the notion of the complexity of 

accounting choice issues. 
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CHAPTER 1 

INTRODUCTION 

Introduction to the Research Problem and Research Question 

The Research Problem 

Traditional studies investigating the choice of adoption methods of newly mandated 

accounting standards typically attempt to determine some association between accounting 

choice and three variables: 1) the size of the firm, 2) the effect of the choice upon 

manager bonuses, and 3) how close the firm is to violating its debt covenants. These 

studies aim to provide an economic explanation for choices made in the adoption of new 

standards by linking accounting choice to particular contractual arrangements. The 

underlying assumptions of the agency model employed are that human motivation is 

rational and economic in nature, that managers are limited by market forces in making 

choices, that government and business are often adversarial, and that managers, creditors, 

and future investors are the major stakeholders of interest. The general findings are that 

when a standard is income increasing, those firms that adopt early have a greater change in 

pre-adoption earnings, are closer to leverage constraints before adoption, are smaller, and 

have a lower percentage of ownership by officers and directors (Smith, 1993). 

Several studies based on agency theory attempt to explain the adoption timing, 

method, and effect of SFAS 87, "Employer's Accounting for Pensions." These studies 



have contradicting results and, as a whole, provide little consensus as to possible reasons 

for adoption choice. For example, Langer and Lev (1993) find that SFAS 87 was 

adopted early as a means of increasing reported income. Senteney and Strawser (1990), 

however, do not find that early adopters materially increased income. Stone and Ingram 

(1988) propose that the impact of SFAS 87 on financial statements was minimal, while 

Norton (1989) asserts a dramatic difference on financial statements after adoption. Sami 

and Welsh (1992) find that larger firms were more likely to adopt SFAS 87 early, while 

Senteney and Strawser (1990) find no difference in size between early and late adopters. 

Ali and Kumar (1994) attempt to resolve these inconsistencies. They find that the 

interaction of economic variables with financial statement effects adds power to the 

previous weak or insignificant findings without these financial statement effects. 

However, Ali and Kumar fail to include main effects in principal interactions, potentially 

biasing their coefficients (Kamenta, 1984). These studies of SFAS 87 adoption are 

enumerated in Table A. 

Cooper and Sherer (1984) as well as psychologists engaged in the study of human 

motivation (Buono and Bowditch, 1991) suggest that human motivation cannot be 

captured by a purely economic evaluation. Klein (1987) asserts that interested parties 

have a disproportionate amount of control over the decisions made with regard to various 

issues. Klein further indicates that business and the federal government are not always at 

odds but often work together to meet the needs of big business. Adams and Brock 

(1988) illustrate Klein's point, concluding that the government often aids big business and 

that the power of big business can render the market forces inoperative. Demski (1988) 
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suggests that traditional analysis ignores important exogenous reasons for accounting 

choice. Ogden (1993) argues that agency theory is too simplistic to explain managerial 

behavior. Zmijewski and Hagerman (1981) suggest that individual accounting policy 

choice decisions are part of an overall firm strategy. Schipper (1989) submits that a 

broader approach to earnings management and related accounting choice issues is needed. 

Thus, it may be valuable to examine the issue of accounting choice from an alternative and 

expanded point of view. I propose expanding accounting choice analysis by examining 

three different characterizations of the SFAS 106 adoption decision: 1) the traditional 

economic characterization; 2) a socio-political characterization; and 3) a joint decision 

characterization. Such an approach suggests the existence of multiple factors influencing 

the adoption decision, recognizes various influential groups that may have an effect upon 

the adoption decision, and notes that there may be differences in these various groups and 

factors in terms of influence (Freeman, 1984; Cooper and Sherer, 1984). 

SFAS 106 

The Structure of SFAS 106. Before one can understand the choices of adoption for 

a particular standard, one must first understand the issues involved in the standard of 

interest and the impact of differing adoption choices. The following paragraphs will be 

used to explain the structure and allowable adoption methodology of SFAS 106. 

In December 1990 the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB 

Statement No. 106 (SFAS 106), "Employer's Accounting for Postretirement Benefits 

Other than Pensions." The FASB describes the purpose of SFAS 106 as a means to 



supply better information to the users of financial statements as to the size and nature of 

promised future non-pension retirement benefits. The standard requires companies that 

promise medical and other non-pension retirement benefits to employ accrual accounting 

in booking these future benefits. Since future medical costs exponentially outweigh other 

postretirement benefits covered by the standard, the discussion of SFAS 106 often centers 

around future retiree medical benefits. 

Prior to SFAS 106, companies were not required to recognize a future obligation 

for non-pension retirement benefits. Companies typically employed either the pay-as-you-

go method or the terminal accrual method. Companies using the pay-as-you-go method 

expensed the amount paid in the current period for the benefit of the existing retirees. 

Firms employing the terminal accrual method made an accrual at the date of the 

employee's retirement representing a present-value estimate of the future costs of that 

particular employee's non-pension retirement benefits. There was no requirement that a 

firm acknowledge the costs of retirement benefits until an employee retired and became 

entitled to begin drawing the benefits. SFAS 106, however, instituted a requirement that 

all publicly-traded companies promising non-pension postretirement benefits within a 

defined benefit plan use accrual accounting for recording and reporting these benefits. 

The effects of the adoption of SFAS 106 can be seen on the balance sheet, the 

income statement, and in the voluminous increases in required footnote disclosures. 

Companies must actuarially estimate the amount of non-pension postretirement benefits 

earned to the date of standard implementation and book a liability, called the "transition 

obligation," for this amount. The transition obligation could be compared to the present 



value compilation of prior service costs in SF AS 87. 

On the income statement, the effect of the standard can be seen in the increase to 

retirement benefits expense. SFAS 106 requires that, in addition to the amounts paid to 

current retirees, companies include in the current year's expense an actuarially-computed 

estimate of the amount of future non-pension retirement benefits earned by all eligible 

employees during the current year of service, much like the pension standard's current 

service costs. Estimates of the resulting increases over pre-SFAS 106 expense levels have 

ranged from two-fold to six-fold (Chung, Jacob, and Heuwirth, 1993). 

Footnote disclosure with SFAS 106 has also increased. Companies are required to 

describe the benefits plan, how the liability and expense are computed, and to estimate the 

differences in these figures should a one percent change in the estimated future costs of 

medical and other non-pension retirement benefits occur. 

SFAS 106, by its nature as a future estimate, requires that certain assumptions be 

made. Two very important assumptions in the computation of SFAS 106 are the assumed 

discount rate and the assumed rate of future annual increases in medical costs. Changes in 

either of these assumptions, even by a small amount, create material changes in the 

amount of expense and liability shown on the financial statements. For example, as 

reported in the 1993 footnotes of General Motors, a one percent change in the expected 

increase in health care would increase the transition obligation by almost twenty percent. 

Important in considering the adoption of SFAS 106 is understanding that the 

standard does not, in and of itself, have any effect upon a firm's cash flow. The standard 

does not require firms to create a fund for future non-pension retirement benefits. Unless 



firms elect to make changes in the funding or structure of non-pension postretirement 

benefit plans, or are required to do so by third parties such as creditors, firms will continue 

to pay for the benefits as they have in previous years. 

Allowable SFAS 106 Adoption Methods. This study focuses on the enormous 

flexibility allowed in the adoption of SFAS 106 with respect to choosing the method and 

timing of adoption. With regard to timing of adoption, the standard allows for three 

different years during which the firms may choose to adopt the standard: 1991, 1992, or 

1993. With regard to method of adoption, two choices must be made. The following 

paragraphs describe these in more detail. 

First, the company must determine if it will offer defined benefit postretirement 

plans. If the company is using a defined contribution plan or switches to such a plan, the 

company is exempt from the requirements of SFAS 106. Further, if the firm has no 

contractual obligations to its employees to continue providing non-pension postretirement 

benefits, its management can choose to discontinue the promise of these benefits. By so 

doing, the managers make the firm exempt from the requirements of SFAS 106, although 

it may be subject to lawsuits from employees losing the benefits. Thus, the first choice 

involved is managers' choice whether or not to be exempt from the requirements of the 

standard. Many firms may have made this choice long before being required to adopt 

SFAS 106, as firms had a ten-year period to examine the matter while the FASB debated 

the issues. Firms may have chosen to change their plan structure as a result of adopting 

SFAS 106. These changes, although very important, are outside the scope of this paper. 



7 

If firm management desires the continuance of other postretirement benefits using a 

defined benefit plan or perceives that it cannot legally avoid providing a defined benefit 

plan, managers then choose between two alternate presentations of the SFAS 106 

transition obligation. First, firms can elect to amortize the transition obligation over a 

period of up to twenty years1. This would allow for a minimal effect of the standard on 

the balance sheet, given that defined benefit plans remain intact. Managers can choose to 

reduce benefits or rewrite their plans to make it more difficult to be eligible for benefits in 

concert with this method of adoption. They nonetheless continue with the promise of a 

defined benefit at retirement. 

Second, the firm can elect to maximize the effect of SFAS 106 by recognizing the 

entire transition obligation at the time of adoption. It should be noted that recognizing the 

whole of the transition obligation at implementation date may result in a sizeable 

modification to the financial statements. General Motors, electing the immediate 

recognition of the transition obligation, reported a $25 billion liability. This figure 

represented approximately 70% of GM's reported stockholder's equity. 

To illustrate the vastly different methods of allowable SFAS 106 adoption 

methodology, consider the following two fictitious, identical firms. Both firms face a 

In some instances, companies can choose to amortize the SFAS 106 transition obligation 
over less than 20 years. Published reports received by me as well as my discussions with 
various managers suggest this to be a very infrequent choice. With regard to my sample, 
only one of the firms showed amortization of the SFAS 106 transition obligation over a 
period of less than 20 years. The time frame for this particular firm was 16 years, 16 years 
being required to be used by the firm because the firm's average employee remaining 
service life was 16 years. 
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SFAS 106 transition obligation of $20 million, and neither firm is setting aside funds for 

the payment of future employee health care benefits. Firm A chooses to adopt SFAS 106 

by recognizing the entire transition obligation. Thus, Firm A shows a large adjustment to 

the income statement (the $20 million minus tax benefits) and records the entire $20 

million as a liability on the balance sheet. Firm B elects to amortize the transition 

obligation. Firm B recognizes approximately $1 million of the transition obligation 

(adjusted for the time value of money) as a increase to retiree benefits expense and records 

a corresponding approximately $1 million as a liability. In year two, the year following 

SFAS 106 adoption, Firm A recognizes only the current year expense and records a 

corresponding increase to liabilities. In addition to current year expense recognized by 

Firm A, in year two Firm B recognizes an additional $1 million of the transition obligation 

as an addition to liabilities and increase in other retiree benefits expense. At the end of 

year twenty, the two firms should show identical amounts as a liability for future retiree 

benefits, having expensed the same for other retiree benefits expense (adjusted for the time 

value of money). 

Potential SFAS 106 and SFAS 109 Joint Adoption. The possibility of a joint 

adoption decision exists by virtue of the timing allowed for the adoption of SFAS 106 and 

SFAS 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes", the nature of the SFAS 109 effect, and the 

tax benefits derived by joint adoption. SFAS 109 changes the method of calculating 

deferred taxes to an asset and liability method. Deferred taxes are calculated based on 

existing assets and liabilities, and differences are shown on the income statement. 



Prior to SFAS 109, companies calculated deferred income taxes using the tax rates 

in effect when the deferred tax arose. SFAS 109, however, requires the use of expected 

future tax rates in calculating deferred taxes. In 1986, Congress reduced maximum 

corporate income tax rates from 46-48% to 34%. The effect of SFAS 109 is, therefore, 

generally positive, because lower income tax rates are typically used in the SFAS 109 

deferred tax computation. Thus, SFAS 109 typically creates a positive effect on the 

income statement, while SFAS 106 creates a negative effect. Further, SFAS 109 allows 

companies to use lower income tax rates in calculating deferred taxes associated with 

SFAS 106 future employee benefits. 

SFAS 109 allows for two methods of adoption. First, firms can choose to adopt 

SFAS 109 by recognizing the entire SFAS 109 effect as a cumulative adjustment on the 

income statement. This method shows the typical positive effect of SFAS 109 in a more 

visible manner. Second, firms can restate all prior years affected by SFAS 109 as an 

extended footnote disclosure and adjust stockholders' equity for the total restatement. 

This method shows no visible effect on current-year financial statements. Companies are 

allowed to adopt SFAS 109 during 1991, 1992, or 1993, synchronous with allowed 

adoption for SFAS 106. 

To illustrate the benefits of SFAS 109 and SFAS 106 joint adoption, consider the 

same two identical firms discussed above. Firm A elects to recognize the entire SFAS 106 

transition obligation of $20 million, while Firm B elects to amortize the $20 million 

transition obligation over 20 years. Firm A, thus, chooses to show the maximal impact of 

SFAS 106, while Firm B chooses to delay the full impact of SFAS 106. The total effect of 
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SFAS 109 is a positive $3 million, as the income tax rates utilized by the firms have 

dropped from 46% to 34% due to SFAS 109 adoption. Firm A elects to adopt SFAS 106 

and SFAS 109 jointly, and both standards are recognized with cumulative adjustments on 

the income statement. The SFAS 106 adjustment is a negative adjustment of $20 million 

(reduced for the deferred income tax effect of SFAS 109), while the SFAS 109 adjustment 

is a positive $3 million. The result of the joint adoption is to decrease the negative $20 

million effect of SFAS 106 on the income statement by the amount of the $3 million 

positive SFAS 109 adjustment. Retained earnings is decreased by the net of the two 

cumulative adjustments less corresponding SFAS 109 deferred tax liabilities and SFAS 

106 retiree benefit liabilities. 

Conversely, Firm B amortizes the SFAS 106 transition obligation upon SFAS 106 

adoption. There is no cumulative effect adjustment; all expense is an above-the-line 

reduction on the income statement. Firm B elects to adopt SFAS 109 by restatement of 

prior years' financial statements, therefore minimizing the effect of both standards on the 

financial statements. Approximately 5% of the SFAS 106 transition obligation is 

recognized as expense and a corresponding liability, and the SFAS 109 effect is found only 

in an prior-period adjustment to stockholders' equity and a footnote disclosure. 

A manager could also choose to report SFAS 106 amortization with a SFAS 109 

cumulative effect or recognize the full SFAS 106 obligation with a restatement of prior 

years for SFAS 109. In my sample, these twoparticular joint combinations are rarely 

found. Such combinations might be considered anomalies and interesting study for future 

research. 
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SFAS 106 Assumptions. Further choices are involved in the adoption of SFAS 

106, although these complicating factors are beyond the scope of this study. The choice 

of assumptions as to discount rates and anticipated increases in the costs of medical 

expense and other non-pension postretirement benefits required in the implementation of 

SFAS 106 can be manipulated in the desired direction to increase or decrease the effect of 

the standard. Further, ceteris paribus, two firms that are theoretically the same that use 

the same discount and medical trend rates may show the same amount of current-year 

service cost expense on the income statement, although each firm may elect entirely 

different presentations of the transition obligation on the balance sheet. The method of 

presentation can result in very different effects upon current expense and corresponding 

liabilities (Chung, Jacob, and Heuwirth, 1993), creating a costly lack of comparability. 

The Research Question 

The choices in the method of SFAS 106 adoption suggest the following research 

question: why did managers of firms that chose to adopt SFAS 106 choose to do so using 

a particular method? The question of adoption choice in this study involves only the 

method of adoption, not the decision to avoid SFAS 106 or the timing of SFAS 106 

adoption. Thus, the study will pursue whether or not an expanded, multi-faceted 

approach has explanatory power for method of SFAS 106 adoption. Operationally, the 

study will pursue the question of whether or not surrogate measures of traditional 

economic variables, socio-political variables, and joint decision variables are associated 

with two specific methods of SFAS 106 adoption. 
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Methodology and Assumptions 

Methodology 

The research question specifies a binary outcome as the dependent variable (choice 

of immediate recognition of the transition obligation = 1; choice of deferred recognition by 

amortization of the transition obligation = 0). Either logistic regression or probit 

regression may be employed to estimate the two probabilities in a binary outcome. 

Maximum likelihood estimation methods are used. The use of logit or probit regression 

assumes that the outcome (choice of a particular adoption method) is associated with 

factors related to the independent variables. Logit regression will be used with economic, 

socio-political, and joint decision measures as surrogates for factors hypothesized. 

Assumptions 

It is assumed that the cost of adoption in choosing a particular adoption method and 

foregoing the choice of another adoption method, is immaterial. Further, it is assumed 

that the choice of either method of adoption has no immediate effect upon cash flow or 

other measures of cost. Under SFAS 106, cash flows should change only if there are 

changes in the benefits plan structure or the level of plan funding. 

The study will assume that all firm managers perceive a difference between 

amortization of the transition obligation and immediate recognition of the full transition 

obligation. Additionally, it is assumed that managers consider health care costs to be an 

important issue and, therefore, that strategic posturing will be high. The recent 

discussions and concerns about the costs of health care, alongside the skyrocketing costs 
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of health care, support this assumption, particularly during the timing of SFAS 106 

adoption. 

It is assumed that managers perceive a difference between the joint adoption of 

SFAS 109 and SFAS 106 and the separate adoption of the two standards. Finally, it is 

assumed that managers perceive a difference between recognizing SFAS 109 as a 

cumulative effect adjustment and recognizing SFAS 109 by means of restating prior years. 



CHAPTER 2 

THEORETICAL DEVELOPMENT 

Introduction 

The purpose of this study is to expand the analysis of accounting choice beyond the 

typical single-faceted approach. There are at least three different ways to characterize the 

adoption of SFAS 106: 1) an economic characterization; 2) a socio-political 

characterization; and 3) a joint decision characterization with SFAS 109. The following 

paragraphs are used to discuss the rationalization for each of the three characterizations. 

The Economic Characterization of SFAS 106 

Researchers such as Solomons (1991) and Watts and Zimmerman (1978) have 

chosen to study accounting as a strictly economically-centered discipline. They, along 

with many other accounting researchers2, assume that the reasons a firm manager would 

See for examples of economically-based research, Ali and Kumar, 1994; Ayers, 1986; 
Bowen, Noreen and Lacy, 1981; Christie, 1990; Daley and Vigeland, 1983; Dhaliwal, 
1980; Dhaliwal, Solomon and Smith, 1982; Hagerman, 1981; Hagerman and Zmijewski, 
1979; Holthausen, 1981; Jensen, 1981; Langer and Lev, 1993; Lee and Hsieh, 1985; 
Leftwich, 1983; Leftwich, Watts and Zimmerman, 1981; Lilien and Pastena, 1981; Mian 
and Smith, 1990a; Norton, 1989; Sami and Welsh, 1992; Senteney and Strawser, 1990; 
Stone and Ingram, 1988; Trombley, 1989; Watts and Zimmerman, 1978; Zimmer, 1986; 
Zmijewski and Jarrell, 1979. 

14 
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have for lobbying the FASB or for choosing a particular accounting method are primarily 

economic in nature. Various economic reasons for accounting method choice are cited, 

such as maximizing manager bonuses and avoiding the violation of debt covenants with 

the firm's creditors. These studies rely upon the neoclassical notions of contracting 

theory, a subset of agency theory. Rational behavior employing a utility measure is 

assumed, and accounting choice is linked to particular contractual arrangements. 

(Although generally included in agency theory analysis, size will be discussed below in the 

socio-political characterization section as a surrogate for political visibility). 

The adoption of SFAS 106, under either adoption method, does not in and of itself, 

have an immediate effect on a firm's cash flows. There is no requirement for funding, and 

companies are allowed to continue paying for other postretirement benefits as they have in 

previous periods. Cosmetic changes to the financial statements required by SFAS 106, 

albeit quite large in many cases, are intended to alert users of financial information as to 

the size of promised future cash outflows only. Unless changes are made in benefits plans 

structure or funding, cash flows should theoretically progress as they would have if SFAS 

106 not been enacted. 

Received wisdom suggests that, all other things being equal, managers prefer to 

delay recognition of a large liability such as that inherent to the SFAS 106 transition 

obligation, and further, that managers prefer a small liability to a large liability. If true, the 

size of the potential SFAS 106 liability ought to be a factor for managers in making the 

SFAS 106 adoption decision. This research, therefore, tests the effect of the size of the 

potential SFAS 106 transition obligation upon SFAS 106 adoption method. 
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Economically-centered studies testing incentives toward maintaining debt 

covenants (Dhaliwal, 1980) and maximizing manager bonuses (Healy, 1985) report that 

income-reducing techniques often are avoided if decreasing income reduces bonus 

payments or causes violation of debt covenants. On average, firms choosing to recognize 

the full transition obligation introduce a large liability with potential to violate debt 

covenants. Concurrently, recognizing the full transition obligation materially reduces 

income, potentially harming manager bonus payments. This research, therefore, tests the 

potential for violation of debt covenants and reduction of manager bonuses on SFAS 106 

adoption. 

The "big bath" theory has been advanced to explain economically why certain firm 

managers choose early recognition of bad news. Healy (1985) found that when earnings 

are very low, management often chooses to deal with many income-decreasing issues 

during one income-reporting period (the "big bath"). This allows managers to increase 

their bonus potential in future periods. With regard to SFAS 106, firms could create a 

large liability along with a large reduction on the income statement posed as a change in an 

accounting principle. By so doing, managers may hope to hide other serious problems, to 

remove a number of negative issues during one reporting period, and to defer income to 

future periods to increase future bonuses. 

Although economic motivations are noted as potential explanations for the adoption 

of SFAS 106, it is arguable that employee benefits issues may expand beyond typical 

economic explanations. The recent health care debates in Congress highlight this point. 

Further, the lack of consistent findings in examining SFAS 87 may suggest that more than 
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economic motivations exist in employee benefits issues. Why some firms chose to 

recognize the entire transition obligation upon adoption of the standard, therefore, is an 

interesting question that may require more than a traditional economic evaluation. As 

Johnson and Resvine (1988) contend, traditional economic analysis often fails to capture 

the appropriate explanatory variables. In short, the traditional economic interpretations of 

SFAS 106, although important, may not represent a complete analysis. One purpose of 

this study is to extend accounting choice analysis beyond the traditional economic 

interpretations. 

The Socio-Political Characterization of SFAS 106 

Accounting as Political. 

For purposes of this study, the term "political" will be defined as strategically 

influencing policy in order to affect the distribution of income or other resources (Sunder, 

1988; May, 1952). Johnson (1990) refers to Adam Smith's system of political economy. 

Smith presented an idea of human nature that identified countervailing social and asocial 

passions interacting to shape the process by which society creates rules. Smith did not 

believe that human motivation was limited to economic factors. He believed in human 

social passions quite distinct from the selfish, asocial ends subsumed in the market 

process. Thus, Johnson would argue, as did Adam Smith, that self-interest is not the sole 

force driving human nature. 

DR Scott (1939) freely discussed accounting as a primary tool for control in the 
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1930s. George O. May (1952) concluded that accounting income was fast becoming, if it 

had not already become, a political concept. May went further to state that, given income 

is a political concept, business management should not be allowed to determine income at 

will. 

Laughlin and Puxty (1983) use a worldview model to show that standard-setting 

has been blocked by the use of a specific framework that actually highlights and attends to 

conflicts of self-interest. Willmott (1984) responds to Laughlin and Puxty. He asserts 

that different worldviews of individuals and groups cannot be understood by analyzing 

people as 11 self-interested with only wealth maximization in mind"(Willmott, 1984, p. 480). 

Sunder (1988) tells us that the FASB itself is a completely political organization. 

He discusses the FASB's problems of identifying social optimals as well as many 

mechanistic alternatives for making social decisions. Sunder believes that as we have 

moved further away from common law to a bureaucratic mechanism with the FASB, 

fewer and fewer stakeholders are directly involved in the decision-making process, more 

power from fewer stakeholders is brought to inform the decision, and the chances of 

making serious errors increase greatly. This is illustrated by Hakansson (1991) when he 

shows that a powerful set of incentives favor late, unclear, noncomparable disclosure over 

timely, relevant, comparable disclosure. 

Chambers (1993) discusses in detail the limitations of traditional economic analysis, 

suggesting that such analysis approaches only tangential elements of economics. He 

exhorts that accounting research must be open to new and extended inquiry or its 

participants risk the danger of falling prey to a single mindset that he likens to a cult. 
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Cooper and Sherer (1984) suggest a political economy approach as being a more 

complete method of studying the discipline of accounting. They present a mode of inquiry 

that seeks to understand and evaluate the functions of accounting within the social, 

economic, and political environment. They believe that the typical economic consequence 

analyses of accounting choice and lobbying were begun because of the desire of large 

corporations to counter attempts to change the existing reporting systems and levels of 

disclosure. Cooper and Sherer criticize strictly economic evaluation studies as being far 

too narrow in scope. A political economy approach, on the other hand, considers many 

more stakeholders, specifies the historical and institutional environment in which 

accounting operates, and adopts a view of human motivation that expands beyond simple 

economic factors3. The following discussion will be used to certain political aspects 

particular to SFAS 106. 

I acknowledge that the analysis that I propose could be interpreted by some as simply 
utility maximization. For example, Jones (1991) attempted to identify evidence of 
earnings manipulation by U.S. firms facing foreign import competition, similar to my 
international competition arguments. Liberty and Zimmerman (1986) attempted to 
identify evidence of earnings manipulation during union negotiation, similar to my union 
hypothesis. There are important differences, however. The typical political argument 
within an agency theoiy paradigm is that larger firms seek to avoid government 
intervention and, thus, choose income minimizing accounting methods in order to do so. 
I argue the converse, that there are instances when managers of big business actually 
seek' government intervention for the benefit of their firm. The literature has shown that 

government has to come to the aid of business (Klein, 1987; Adams and Brock, 1986). 
Agency theory also argues that managers are rational and are motivated strictly by 
economics. I argue, as did Freeman (1984), that more than economic motivations exist, 
that political issues are often integral in accounting standards, and that more stakeholders 
should be considered. 
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Political Action Around SFAS 106. 

In the early 1970s, Congressional Hearings were held to discuss the issue of lost 

pensions. There was a perceived problem of managers firing employees just before their 

vesting date. Many employees lost all of their pension benefits and were helpless to do 

anything about it. To address this issue, Congress stepped in and passed the Employees' 

Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA) in 1974. The FASB responded to the problem 

by placing employee benefits on the FASB agenda in 1971 and splitting off pensions as a 

separate project in 1974. 

Throughout the past two decades, Congressional Hearings also have been held to 

discuss the problem of health care costs and benefits. Typically, the matter was discussed 

and dismissed as being subordinate to other more pressing issues. The Congressional 

Hearings on Health Care in the 1970s saw little representation from big business and little 

response from Congress. 

In the early-to-mid 1980s, many individuals and interest groups lobbied Congress 

seeking help because of the loss of pension benefits after pension fund raids. Managers of 

firms were allowed to increase cash availability by tapping into overfunded pension funds. 

Mergers and acquisitions sometimes occurred for the principal purpose of raiding the 

acquired firm's overfunded pension fund, a vivid illustration of Reich's (1983) "paper 

entrepreneurialism." Representatives for business cited lost profits and inability to 

compete internationally as the reasons for needing access to the supply of cash in 

overfunded pension funds at the related Congressional Hearings. 

The business community was well represented at the Congressional Health Care 
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Hearings in the 1980s, in contrast to those in the 1970s. As with the hearings on pensions 

fund raids, business representatives discussed their firms' lost profits and inability to 

challenge international competitors on equal footing. This time, however, they cited the 

cost of health care as a principal cause. Competitors in other countries, business 

spokespersons noted, had to bear a smaller portion of the burden of health care costs. 

SFAS 106 was itself the topic of a Congressional Hearing in 1989. Business 

representatives flooded Congress with complaints about the devastating effect this 

standard promised to their firm's financial statements. They informed Congress that this 

standard, if allowed to pass, would underscore the vast disadvantage that American 

business has compared to its international competitors that do not bear such a burden for 

health care costs. Table B is a timeline comparison of the movements of Congress and the 

FASB in the employee benefits issues. The FASB's movement in concert with Congress 

on the health care issue highlights the political importance of the issue (Source: Texts of 

Congressional Hearings, 1970-1993). 

A Potential Political Tool 

Newspapers and news magazines are filled with discussion about health care. It is a 

topic of great concern and interest to millions in our country as well as around the globe. 

Where one sits with regard to health care issues will depend greatly upon the worldview in 

which he or she has been socialized and by which one has been affected (Willmott, 1984). 

SFAS 106 is a statement about the future costs of health care. It is a means by 

which the future costs of health care are well highlighted. The total liability associated 



22 

with promised health care retirement benefits has been estimated to be over one trillion 

dollars (Chung, Jacob, and Heuwirth, 1993). By highlighting future costs, the standard is 

a means by which comparisons can be made, messages can be sent, and specific matters 

can be brought to light. 

Certain political issues may be inherent to the SFAS 106 adoption decision. First, 

firm management may wish to avoid potential political exposure. The literature suggests 

that larger firms are more politically visible and often choose income-decreasing 

accounting techniques in the effort to avoid unwanted regulation. Second, firms may be 

concerned with negotiating what types of benefits should be offered to employees and 

what portion of the costs of these benefits the employees should bear. The exorbitant rise 

in health care costs during the 1980s and early 1990s make this particularly important. 

Rising health care costs becomes particularly salient in the midst of labor negotiations with 

unions. A third important political issue is who should bear the costs of health care 

benefits in the U.S. The issue may be more important to managers of industries competing 

with firms in other countries wherein national health care policies differ in terms of how 

health care costs are covered. It is also important to government contractors seeking 

increases in future reimbursements for health care expenses. The following paragraphs 

will discuss these issues in light of SFAS 106. 

Political Visibility. Prior research such as Watts and Zimmerman (1978) has 

repeatedly suggested that large, politically visible firms prefer income-decreasing 

accounting methods to minimize politically imposed regulation. The political arena has the 
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power to effect the transfer of wealth between various interest groups. Large, corporate 

entities may be especially vulnerable to redistributions of wealth, as Congress is constantly 

scrutinizing reported income levels among various industries. It has been suggested in 

many studies, therefore, that larger, more politically visible firms tend to choose income-

reducing accounting methods in order to avoid unwanted intervention by various 

regulatory bodies. In the case of SFAS 106, it would be expected that the larger the firm, 

the greater the probability of full recognition of the transition obligation upon SFAS 106 

adoption. 

Institutional ownership may also be a factor in firm political visibility. Firms that 

have higher levels of institutional ownership have to consider an additional constituency 

with increased possibility of exposure to regulation. Therefore, such firms may be 

expected to choose income-reducing methods to avoid any additional political exposure. 

Political Strategy with Union Labor. Firms whose workforce is primarily unionized 

will have to answer to a potentially powerful group that may have additional political 

bargaining power over a non-unionized labor force. Therefore, managers may give 

additional consideration as to how certain accounting decisions could affect negotiations 

with labor unions, especially accounting choice decisions that involve employee pay or 

benefits. Sturdivant (1979) recognizes that management and unions may often take the 

stance of adversaries. McBarnet, Weston, and Whelan (1993) argue that accounting is 

often strategically employed to improve the position of management against labor. 

Maunders and Foley (1984) conclude that unionized firms consider accounting disclosure 



24 

to be part of an explicitly long-term negotiation strategy. Liberty and Zimmerman (1986) 

studied management's propensity to manage income during union negotiations, but they 

did not find support for their income management hypothesis. 

Thus, one possible political reason for choosing accounting methods may be to use 

the reported information as a strategy to influence health care policy negotiations with 

union labor. With regard to the SFAS 106 decision, this would mean that firms chose to 

create a large liability at SFAS 106 adoption to highlight the amounts already promised as 

employee benefits. 

Conversely, one could argue that such disclosure might have a negative impact 

upon negotiations with unions if the size of the obligation makes labor negotiators 

reluctant to accept further forms of deferred compensation. However, labor unions were 

getting weaker during the 1980s, as national union membership fell. Overall, the adoption 

of SFAS 106 should favor the position of management. 

The Politics of International Competition. Large firms have been lobbying 

Congress for the last decade in order to push for aid in the payment of medical care costs. 

Jones (1991) found evidence of such lobbying with the use of accounting methods in 

import relief investigations. The general consensus of the larger, internationally 

competitive firms in testifying before Congress is that big business has been footing the bill 

for the majority of the country's medical costs in the United States while their international 

competitors do not have as great a burden. For example, Walter Maher, representing 

Chrysler at the 1992 Congressional Hearings on Health Care, describes the issue. 
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A U.S. firm competing with a Japanese firm starts with 
a 131 percent health care penalty. If you pile on health 
care cost shifting from the government to business it gets 
worse. Pile on cost shifting to business in the private sector 
and the fact that the health care system in the United 
States penalizes companies for longevity, and the situation 
gets even worse. Businesses in other countries do help to pay 
for health care, but the payments are made in a much more 
equitable manner. This country has lost competitive advantage 
of about $500 per car four separate times in this century due 
to this competitive handicap. We (Chrysler) want a health 
care system that covers all, spreads out costs fairly, and controls 
costs. (CIS Texts of Congressional Hearings, 1992. p. 1174) 

A spokesperson for General Motors reported, 

the average United Auto Worker member earns $17.60 per 
hour. With health care benefits added, this amount becomes 
$42.21 per hour. The burden of health care upon GM adds 
approximately $2,000 to the cost of every car manufactured 
(USA Today, Jan. 11,1993, p. 4a). 

It may be that managers of all large U. S. companies believe big business bears too 

large a percentage of the costs of health care in the U.S.. However, these costs may 

appear more burdensome to those firms that have a larger portion of international sales. 

Such firms might want to use SFAS 106 adoption as a means of highlighting what they 

have suggested to be a competitive disadvantage(CIS Texts of Congressional Hearings, 

1992). If so, they could be expected to maximize the transition obligation upon adoption. 

This may be of less significance to firms with sales from foreign subsidiaries where the 

foreign government pays health care costs4. 

4 Firms with foreign subsidiaries must be distinguished from firms that produce 
in the U.S. but sell abroad. This study includes only firms that show little or no 
production abroad. 
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Politics of Government Contracting. Both Freeman (1984) and Watts and 

Zimmerman (1978) recognize the ability of legislative bodies to affect corporate strategy 

and decision making. They argue that firms develop strategies to deal with administrative 

bodies to seek favorable treatment and to avoid unwanted intervention. Accounting 

choice is suggested as being a part of that strategy (Watts and Zimmerman, 1978). 

Firms that bid on government contracts are regulated as to the costs that can be 

recovered in contracts and the methods by which these costs can be recovered. The Cost 

Accounting Standards Board sets certain rules for job costing in order to allow for 

comparability between firms bidding on the same government contracts. New, specific 

allowances for cost recovery in jobs that are bid with the federal government are 

determined as the new issues arise. 

Prior to SFAS 106, contractors were allowed cost recovery for other 

postretirement benefits in the amount of actual claims paid. After SFAS 106, rules similar 

to those allowed for cost recovery of pensions were enacted. Costs can be recovered only 

for actual benefits paid or for cash payments contributed to an irrevocable trust used to 

make payments for retiree benefits. A Voluntary Employees' Beneficiary Association 

(VEB A) is one type of trust that can be used for this purpose. A VEB A is a trust created 

to which funds can be contributed by both employers and employees for use in paying 

employee benefits. The IRS allows tax deductions for amounts contributed by the firms to 

VEBA's, while the earnings of the VEB A are taxable to the trust entity. Should the other 

postretirement plans be terminated or changed in a way as to reduce benefits for which 

amounts have been accrued and submitted for cost recovery, the U.S. government is 
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entitled to an equitable share of any assets remaining after providing for plan obligations 

(Source: Lockheed 1992 footnotes to financial statements). 

Government contractors, therefore, are regulated as to how other postretirement 

benefits can be recovered. Regulations are often changed as to cost recovery, however, if 

firms can show hardship. Firms receive cost reimbursement payment for all of the actual 

amounts expended to pay other postretirement benefits that are related to employees 

engaged in service on government contracts. However, greater hardship can be shown if 

employee benefits are shown at the largest level possible. It is expected that government 

contractors will use firm policy in such a way as to affect the distribution of governmental 

reimbursements in the greatest manner and to highlight the amounts expended for 

employee benefits, both now and in the future. This would show the greatest hardship on 

the part of the contractors and be more likely to influence government policy toward 

anticipating future increased bids as costs in contracts. It would be expected that these 

government contractors would recognize the full transition obligation at SFAS 106 

adoption. This study tests this expectation. 

The Joint Decision Viewpoint of SFAS 106 and SFAS 109 

Zmijewski and Hagerman (1981), albeit with weak results, suggest that managers 

do not make accounting choice decisions in a vacuum. Rather, managers generally have 

many options available for use in accomplishing the desired financial statement effects. 

Concurrent adoption of SFAS 106 and SFAS 109, "Accounting for Income Taxes," is a 
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unique option inherent to the SFAS 106 adoption decision. 

SFAS 109 came about in reaction to a great amount of lobbying against the 

complexity and negative effects of its predecessor standard, SFAS 96. Comment letters 

submitted during the SFAS 106 comment periods suggest that firms lobbied the FASB to 

enact the two standards so that joint adoption would be possible. The FASB responded 

positively, and both standards may be adopted in 1991,1992, or 1993. Discovery of 

adoption during the same time period would serve as evidence of a joint adoption 

decision. 

SFAS 109 changes the method of calculating deferred taxes to an asset and liability 

method and requires the use of future estimated income tax rates instead of the income tax 

rates in effect at the time of the tax deferrals. Congress reduced maximum corporate 

income tax rates from 46% to 34% in 1986. Therefore, adoption of SFAS 109 generally 

results in a recalculation of deferred taxes that increases income and reduces deferred tax 

liabilities. The overall effect is a positive adjustment to retained earnings, on average. 

Managers may choose to adopt SFAS 109 by means of a cumulative effect 

adjustment to the income statement, recognizing on the face of the financial statements the 

whole of the positive SFAS 109 effect at once, or by restating prior years in a footnote 

and adjusting prior stockholders' equity. Adoption with a cumulative effect adjustment 

allows managers to maximize the positive effect on current year financial statements. 

The joint adoption of the two standards is a logical possibility in that SFAS 106 

requires a negative adjustment to the financial statements while SFAS 109, on average, 

should produces a positive effect on the financial statements. This study searches for 
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possible evidence of the effects of joint adoption on the method of SFAS 106 adoption by 

examining the relationships between the SFAS 106 adoption methodology and : 1) the 

timing of SFAS 109 adoption, 2) the financial statement effect of SFAS 109 adoption, and 

3) the method of SFAS 109 adoption. 

Literature Review 

Economic Studies 

The size of the financial statement exposure in terms of the potential SFAS 106 

liability has been suggested as potential factor considered by management in making the 

decision of how to adopt SFAS 106. Ali and Kumar (1994) find that the effect of SFAS 

87 on the financial statements is significantly related to the SFAS 98 adoption decision. 

Dhaliwal (1980) finds that the potential for violation of debt covenants is significant 

in explaining why managers make particular choices among accounting methods. Smith 

(1993) argues that the various debt-to-equity ratios typically used to measure closeness to 

debt covenant violation are grossly inadequate. Smith (1993) suggests closer examination 

of the actual contracts in order to better understand the underlying covenants. 

Prior to Healy (1985), it was believed that managers' concern for their bonus 

payments had a great effect upon accounting method choice; however, no one was able to 

significantly capture information supporting that belief. Healy looked deeper at the actual 

bonus contractual arrangements. He found that, when earnings are in normal ranges, 

management is more likely to choose income-increasing techniques. When earnings are 
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exceptionally high, managers prefer to reduce income in the effort to defer income to 

future bonus years. When earnings are exceptionally low, managers often choose to take 

the "big bath" and remove all negative financial statement effects in one year. 

Recent studies have questioned Healy's position. Holthausen, Larcker, and Sloan 

(1995) find evidence that managers manipulate earnings downwards when their bonuses 

are at their maximum. Unlike Healy, however, they find no evidence that managers 

manipulate earnings downwards when earnings are below the minimum necessary to 

receive any bonus. Gaver, Gaver, and Battistel (1995) suggest that most firms have other 

bonus and stock option plans that reduce the marginal incentive benefits of plans such as 

Healy describes that are based strictly on firm performance. 

Socio-Political Studies 

Repeated studies have discovered the "size" effect, the suggestion that larger firms 

choose income-reducing techniques more often than smaller firms. The usual argument 

for this finding is that managers of larger firms believe that their firms are more politically 

visible. Management, therefore, does not wish to show enormous incomes for fear of 

regulatory intervention. Perhaps the best example of such regulatory intervention is the 

enactment of Windfall Profits Tax on oil and gas firms in the 1970s. Thus, the size 

hypothesis is used to argue that firms use accounting methods to strategically avoid 

unwanted political intervention, suggesting an adversarial relationship between 

government and business. 

Various studies have been performed to illustrate the political strategy of 
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management in negotiating with a unionized labor force. Sturdivant (1979) acknowledges 

the adversarial stance often taken by management and unions. McBarnet, Weston, and 

Whelan (1993) and Maunders and Foley (1984) show that accounting is used as a part 

management's negotiative strategy with unions. 

Klein (1987) argues to the contrary of the idea of political exposure, the size 

hypothesis. He believes that firms are very much involved in political negotiations. 

However, he believes that business and political administrative bodies are not in 

opposition to one another. Rather, the two work together, often to improve the position 

of big business. 

Jones (1991) finds evidence of the use of accounting to affect negotiation with 

administrative bodies. Freeman (1984) recognizes that governmental entities are 

important stakeholders whose influence must be managed. 

Joint Decision Literature 

Zmijewski and Hagerman (1981) argue that it is unlikely that managers each 

accounting policy choice independent of all other accounting policy choices. Rather, it is 

suggested that firm management chooses an overall firm strategy and considers each 

accounting policy choice available in order to create the desired financial statement effects. 

Schipper (1989) also concludes that typical earnings management studies do not consider 

the complexities of the many issues involved. These authors suggest extending accounting 

choice and earnings management studies to include new variables and motivations. 
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Studies of SFAS 106 

Espahbodi, Strock, and Tehranian (1991) look at the impact on equity prices around 

the pronouncements related to the discussion of SFAS 106. Prior to 1991 financial 

statements, SFAS 81 required firms offering other postretirement benefits to disclose these 

benefits in the footnotes to their financial statements. Firms whose SFAS 81 footnote 

disclosures indicated that benefits other than pensions were offered to employees (the 

experimental group) were compared to firms with similar market values that had no SFAS 

81 disclosures (the control group). Compared to the control group, the experimental 

firms showed significant negative abnormal returns around the issuance of the SFAS 106 

exposure draft. 

Amir (1993) uses the postretirement cash payments to retirees disclosed in footnotes 

under the requirements of SFAS 81 to investigate whether investors underestimated the 

full effect of the postretirement benefit liability on firms' values as compared to SFAS 106 

computations. Results show that investors did underestimate the full consequences of 

firms' promises to pay future postretirement benefits. 

Khurana and Loudder (1994) look at the economic consequences of SFAS 106 on 

rate-regulated utilities. They find that investors in public utilities did not view the 

proposed standard as a value-decreasing event. 

Mittelstaedt, et al (1995) seek to determine if SFAS 106 adoption is associated with 

decreases in retiree benefits. They find that firms cutting retiree health care benefits are 

financially weaker and have higher retiree health care costs than those not cutting benefits, 

concluding that SFAS 106 does not appear the primary cause for reduction in benefits. 



CHAPTER 3 

METHODOLOGY 

Data Selection 

My final sample consists of 268 of the 600 firms listed in Accounting Trends and 

Techniques (AICPA, 1994). I chose to obtain my sample from this list of firms, because 

the firms listed are some of the largest manufacturing and retail firms in the U.S. If there 

is an effect involved in the adoption of SFAS 106,1 could best expect to find it shown by 

these particular companies. Accounting Trends and Techniques does not include financial 

services firms and only includes one rate-regulated utility. Since I chose to exclude 

financial services firms and rate-regulated utilities5, the Accounting Trends and Techniques 

listing becomes even more appropriate for sample selection. Financial services firms and 

regulated utilities must respond to different incentives and are often made to account for 

Rate-regulated utilities and financial service companies by means of the sample source 
are eliminated from the sample. Regulators have specifically stipulated that utility 
companies may recover expenses related to SFAS 106 in rate increases over a period of 
20 years or more. Most utilities are amortizing the transition obligation over 20 years for 
financial reporting purposes. Financial services companies generally were constrained by 
capital requirements in the early 1990s and typically chose to amortize the transition 
obligation over 20 years. Thus, utilities and financial service companies have different 
motivations from other types of firms, generally driven by regulatory rulings. Given the 
variables that I am trying to examine in this study, I believe that it will be more appropriate 
to save examination of these rate-regulated utilities and financial services companies for 
future study. (Source: personal discussions with officers at Central and Southwest Corp. 
and Nations Bank) 
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specific matters in mandatory ways by their regulators. Also excluded are firms that have 

had recent major structural changes such as mergers, leveraged buyouts, and bankruptcies. 

Such firms would have other incentives for accounting choice that would likely supersede 

the SFAS 106 accounting choice issues. Finally, firms that have year-ends other than 

December 31 are eliminated from the sample (See Table C for a complete listing of all 

firms considered and explanation as to why particular firms were eliminated). 

Data Collection 

Most data employed in this study are found in the annual financial statements and 

Forms 10-K for 1991 and the year of SFAS 106 adoption (1991, 1992 or 1993) from 

either hard copy or from the Lexis/Nexus database. Data gathered includes the method of 

adoption chosen, information regarding suggested economic and political explanations of 

SFAS 106 adoption, and information regarding a suggested joint SFAS 106 and SFAS 

109 adoption decision. Many companies do not publicly release the percentage of labor 

represented by collective bargaining agreements. Thus, it was necessary to contact many 

companies by letter or telephone in order to acquire this information. Information about 

institutional ownership is derived from Value Line (1992). COMPUSTAT data at 

December 31,1991 is used to establish industry benchmarks for leverage. The industry 

groupings used by Ali and Kumar (1994) are employed to differentiate among industries. 

Ali and Kumar use COMPUSTAT two- or three-digit Standard Industry Classification 

codes to create their industry groupings. (See Table D) 
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Firms may choose one of two methods of adoption, both of which are considered in 

this study. Firms may choose either to adopt the standard by recognizing the entire 

transition obligation at time of adoption as a cumulative effect adjustment or they may 

choose to adopt the standard by amortizing the transition obligation over a period of up to 

20 years. For example, consider two identical firms each having calculated a SFAS 106 

transition obligation of $20 million for which no funding has been made. Firm A decides 

to recognize the full transition obligation in the year of adoption, reporting a $20 million 

adjustment to the income statement (less tax effects) and a corresponding $20 million 

liability on the balance sheet. Firm B, however, chooses to amortize the transition 

obligation over 20 years. Firm B reports an approximate $1 million increase in retiree 

benefits expense a corresponding $1 million increase to the liability for retiree benefits 

(adjusted for the time value of money). The result is a vastly different presentation of the 

same information on the financial statements. 

Under certain circumstances, firms could avoid the impact of SFAS 106 by 

substantially reducing benefits or by changing from a defined benefit to some other form of 

plan. Such firms are not considered in this study. A decision to change a benefit plan in 

such a manner, even if made long before the adoption specified for SFAS 106, might still 

have been in anticipation of SFAS 106. It would be difficult to identify all companies that 

may have acted to avoid SFAS 106. At a minimum, one would need to analyze all plan 

changes since SFAS 81 was enacted, ten years prior to SFAS 106, and even that period 

might not be sufficient. Such an analysis is beyond the scope of the this study. 
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Hypotheses to be Tested 

Introduction 

Three groupings of variables deemed to potentially characterize the SFAS 106 

adoption decision: 1) economic, 2) socio-political, and 3) joint decision process 

motivations. Each of the three are delineated for testing in the following paragraphs. 

Both individual variables and separate groupings of variables are evaluated in order to 

examine what each grouping of variables as well as each individual variable may contribute 

to the understanding of SFAS 106 adoption methodology. 

Variable Measurement Timing 

Following Langer and Lev (1993), December 31, 1991 is employed as a reference 

point for the measurement and scaling of all variables except the numerator in EFFECT 

(measured in the year of SFAS 106 adoption) and the measure for FUTDEBT (measured 

in 1993 and 1994). Firms providing defined benefit plans for other postretirement benefits 

were allowed a three-year adoption window for SFAS 106 in that adoption of SFAS 106 

was allowed in 1991 and 1992 and otherwise was mandatory in 1993. Similar to the 

present study, Langer and Lev examined a three-year adoption period for SFAS 87. They 

identify the second year (the next-to-last year) as the decision year and reference variables 

at the beginning of the second year (end of the first year). Langer and Lev believe that 

managers generally make adoption decisions in the next-to-last year using prior end-of-

year data. A decision in the first year of a three-year adoption window is believed less 
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likely than in the second year because managers wish adequate time to examine the issues 

relating to the adoption decision. Consistent with Langer and Lev, I find that only 25 of 

the 268 firms report the SFAS 106 adoption in 1991. (See Table E for the number of 

firms adopting in each year) 

Economic Hypotheses 

I test five measures to determine the benefits of traditional economic analysis in 

examining the SFAS 106 adoption issue. The five measures are: 1) the effect of SFAS 

106 upon the financial statements of firms adopting the standard; 2) a measure of the 

effect of debt existing prior to the adoption of SFAS 106; 3) a measure of the anticipation 

of future debt acquired after SFAS 106 adoption; 4) the bonus hypothesis; and 5) the big 

bath hypothesis. 

SFAS 106 Effect. Following Ali and Kumar (1994), financial statement effect in 

terms of potential financial statement exposure is included as a main effect. When Ali and 

Kumar look at the main effects of size of the firm, leverage, and regulated earnings, they 

find weak or no significant results. When financial statement effect (measured as the 

change in income as a result of SFAS 87 adoption) is interacted with other main effects, 

significance is found. Ali and Kumar fail to include all interacted variables as main effects, 

which may bias the observed interaction coefficients (Kamenta, 1986). 

In the present study, financial statement effect represent the potential total transition 

obligation, a measure of balance sheet exposure (EFFECT). EFFECT is first measured as 
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the SFAS 106 total transition obligation net of tax effects minus previous funding, a figure 

that is part of the SFAS 106 required footnote disclosure during the year of SFAS 106 

adoption. This is scaled by the book value of total stockholders' equity at December 31, 

19917. The effects of SFAS 106 adoption are removed from the December 31, 1991 

measure of stockholders' equity for firms adopting the standard in 1991. 

Following Ali and Kumar (1994), a median percentage value for the sample is 

calculated for EFFECT, allowing for the creation of a dummy measure D/EFFECT. When 

comparing the sample of firms, those firms showing an EFFECT at or above the median 

are considered to have a large EFFECT and D/EFFECT equals "one". Those firms below 

the median are considered to have a small EFFECT and D/EFFECT equals "zero". 

It is, ceteris paribus, expected that firms having a large SFAS 106 financial 

statement EFFECT (or D/EFFECT) will choose to amortize the transition obligation. 

Conversely, a small EFFECT (or D/EFFECT) measure is expected to be associated with 

full recognition of the transition obligation. 

HI: Firms with large (small) SFAS 106 financial statement 
effects are more likely to choose amortization of the 
transition obligation (recognition of the full transition 
obligation) upon SFAS 106 adoption. 

Scaling by the book value of stockholders' equity has been specifically chosen for 
purposes of this study. Christie (1990) suggests that market value may be a better choice 
for scaling. Per Christie, market value represents a better external measure of the overall 
health of the company. It is argued, however, that book value is the principal focus of 
managers making SFAS 106 adoption decisions. Managers interviewed indicated that 
book value was key to the decision. In general, a firm's debt covenants are written in 
terms of book value. 
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Debt-Equity Hypothesis. Creditors control the firm's access to much needed 

financial resources. The assurance of these resources is necessary for continuing firm 

operations. Cornell and Shapiro (1987) use stakeholder theory analysis to explain 

corporate decisions regarding financing policies. They conclude that creditors can be very 

influential stakeholders and that the influence of creditors must be managed. 

It is arguable that the greater the degree to which a firm relies upon financing to 

fund its operations, the greater the degree of creditor influence. Since it has been shown 

that creditors interpret quantified liabilities as more significant than those revealed by 

footnote disclosure (Amir, 1993), firms heavily dependent upon creditors would not want 

to create any unnecessary detriment on the face of the financial statements. Firm 

management may also anticipate the need for future financing and may choose to avoid 

discretionary liabilities in anticipation of future borrowings. 

Three surrogate measures of the effect of creditor stakeholders are tested. The first 

surrogate is measured as the ratio of total long-term book liabilities (including the current 

portion of long-term debt) to total book stockholder's equity at December 31,1991 minus 

an industry mean8. The industry mean is calculated by averaging COMPUSTAT firm data 

Smith, C. (1993) is an example of the growing conflict within the accounting 
literature regarding the use of debt-to-equity and other measures of surrogates for 
closeness to violation of debt covenants. Smith suggests that researchers must more 
consistently model debt constraints in order to make progress in research. Further he 
suggests that much more knowledge is needed from the actual lending agreements to 
understand the nature of technical default. Smith acknowledges that managers have 
flexibility in renegotiating debt, and that default occurs only when companies are in serious 
financial condition. Discussions with various managers indicated that creditors often use 
rolling GAAP with an exception for technical violations caused by mandated accounting 
changes. Current creditors might not be troubled by SFAS 106 adoption with regard to 
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for firms in similar Standard Industry Classification (SIC) groupings at December 31, 

19919. As discussed earlier, the SIC groupings are patterned after those chosen by Ali and 

Kumar (1994) with the exceptions of utilities and financial services firms that are excluded 

in this study. The resulting SIC groupings are: basic industries, capital goods, 

construction, consumer goods, energy, and transportation (See Table C for SIC Code 

Assignments). This first measurement of creditor stakeholder influence is designated as 

DERATIO. 

A second measure of DERATIO created in dummy variable form (D/DERATIO) 

using the sample median measure of DERATIO to separate the firms into two groups. 

Firms at or above the median are considered to have high debt-to-equity ratios ("one") and 

firms below the median are considered to have low debt-to-equity ratios ("zero"). It is 

debt already in place. Additional debt, however, might be constrained by the recognition 
of the SFAS 106 transition obligation liability. I test the association between new debt or 
refinanced debt as shown on the statement of cash flows and method of SFAS 106 
adoption. It is interesting to note that such an analysis was not easily performed prior to 
1987 when the statement of cash flows became a required statement. I acknowledge that 
other means of measuring the addition of new debt may be desirable; however, I choose to 
attempt to do so in future studies. 
9 

Since SFAS 106 requires the addition of a new liability, it is suggested that debt issues 
may be of interest to managers when they are making the adoption decision for SFAS 106. 
It is argued that managers will be concerned with their debt levels in making the SFAS 
106 decision under two separate circumstances. First, the company's debt level may be 
already high, and managers may wish to avoid further additions to debt. Thus, a measure 
of prior debt is included. Second, after the adoption of SFAS 106, a new liability may 
make the firm's leverage appear too high. If managers anticipate the need for new debt 
after the adoption of SFAS 106, the method of adoption may come into play. Following 
Langer and Lev (1993), I am making 1991 the base year for observation of the debt-to-
equity ratio. Managers most likely had this information when making the SFAS 106 
decision. 
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expected that firms with large measures of DERATIO (or D/DERATIO) are more likely 

to amortize transition obligation. 

The final surrogate measure of the effect of creditor stakeholders is a measure of 

debt acquired after the adoption of SFAS 106 (FUTDEBT). The rationale for this 

variable is as follows. Debt providers have the option of waving any violation of debt 

covenants caused by mandatory accounting changes, either by indicating such in the debt 

contracts or making the decision to wave the violation independently of the contract. 

However, the acquisition of new debt generally requires an entirely new negotiative 

process. For the acquisition of new debt, lenders may require the company to meet 

various ratio tests which could be adversely affected by SFAS 106 adoption. 

The measure (FUTDEBT) is determined from the firms' 1993 and 1994 Statements 

of Cash Flow. FUTDEBT is intended to be a measure of new debt in excess of debt 

rollovers, indicating that a new negotiative process occurred. If a firm's 1993 or 1994 

Statement of Cash Flows shows the that addition of long-term debt is equal to or greater 

than 110% of the long-term debt shown as repaid, FUTDEBT equals "one". Otherwise 

FUTDEBT equals "zero". It is expected that FUTDEBT will be significantly related to 

method of SFAS 106 adoption. Firms anticipating the need to acquire debt in the near 

future are expected to amortize the transition in order to avoid placing the entire SFAS 

106 liability on the balance sheet. 

H2: Firms with high (low) levels of leverage are more 
likely to chose to amortize the transition obligation 
(recognize the transition obligation) upon SFAS 106 adoption. 
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H3: Firms (not) anticipating the addition of future debt are more 
likely to amortize the transition (recognize the full 
transition obligation) upon SFAS 106 adoption. 

Bonus Hypothesis. If compensation contracts do not completely adjust for 

accounting earnings, managers can make accounting choices in order to maximize the 

payment of bonuses in current and future years. As shown by Smith and Watts (1982), 

most bonus plans are structured to have funds generally available for payment. After 

Healy (1985) it is suggested that managers operating in firms having income within bonus 

boundaries (designated by Healy as the "ceiling" and the "floor") are expected to choose 

income-maximizing methods. Those operating outside of bonus boundaries are expected 

to choose income-minimizing methods in order to increase future bonus payments. Thus, 

firms with too little income to allow for bonuses choose to take the "big bath," and firms 

with excess income choose to defer that income for future bonus periods. 

A measure for the bonus hypothesis in the form of two dummy variables (BATH 

and BONUS) is created similar to that used by Ali and Kumar (1994). Ali and Kumar 

assumed that income-decreasing (income-increasing) incentives exist for managers of firms 

whose pre-tax returns on equity fall in the lowest or highest (intermediate) decile for the 

sample of firms. Firms that have a pre-tax return on equity that fall within the 10th and 

90th decile for the sample of firms are considered in the intermediate decile group. Those 

above the 90th decile or below the 10th decile are considered to belong to extreme decile 

groups. Pre-tax return on equity is calculated as pre-tax income divided by total 
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stockholder's equity at the end of 199110. 

BATH equals "one" if the firm falls below the 10th decile in the measure of pre-tax 

return on equity. BATH equals "zero" if the measure of pre-tax return on equity falls at or 

beyond the 10th decile. BONUS has a value of "one" if the measure of pre-tax return on 

equity falls at or above the 90th decile and a measure of "zero" if the value falls below the 

90th decile. Following Healy (1985), it is expected that managers prefer to reduce income 

by taking the full SFAS 106 effect in the high-income year, saving future income for the 

payment of future bonuses. Further, if income is low (falls below the 10th percentile in 

this study), it is expected that managers will recognize the full transition obligation in 

efforts to remove negative effects in the current year and increase bonuses in future years. 

H4: Firms whose pre-tax return on equity falls within 
the 10th and 90th deciles (above the 90th decile) 
are expected to amortize the transition 
obligation (recognize the full transition obligation) 
upon SFAS 106 adoption. 

H5: Firms whose pre-tax return on equity falls within 
the 10th and 90th deciles (below the 10th decile) 
are expected to amortize the transition obligation 
(recognize the full transition obligation) upon 
SFAS 106 adoption. 

10 

The measure that I have chosen for the testing Healy's bonus hypothesis 
assumes that all companies in the sample have bonus plans based on income measures. I 
am following Smith and Watts (1982) who discover that most of the companies examined 
have bonus plans structured in such a way as to allow for the regular payment of bonuses. 
My measure is also intended to utilize Healy's (1985) findings of income ceilings and 
floors for bonus payment calculations. 
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Socio-Political Hypotheses 

It is suggested that management may have used the SFAS 106 adoption decision to 

strategically influence policy toward directing resource distribution. Management may 

have utilized SFAS 106 adoption as a means of avoiding political exposure, bettering 

negotiations with union labor, and influencing national health care payment policies. 

Further, managers of firms that contract heavily with the federal government may have 

used the SFAS 106 adoption methodology to improve current and future contract 

reimbursements. 

Political Exposure Hypotheses The size effect is well documented in many studies 

dating as far back as Watts and Zimmerman (1978). The usual argument is to suggest that 

larger firms are more politically visible, are more publicly scrutinized by various regulatory 

bodies, and are more susceptible to imposed regulation. Thus, managers of larger firms 

choose income-reducing methods in order to avoid unwanted regulation. Size (SIZE) is 

measured as the natural logarithm of firm total assets at December 31,1991. 

H6: Larger (smaller) firms are more likely to recognize 
(amortize) the full transition obligation upon SFAS 106 
adoption. 

The ownership of many publicly-traded firms is often concentrated in the portfolios 

of large institutional investors such as pension plans, trust funds, mutual funds, and large 

corporate investors. Such ownership may create additional political visibility for the firms 

so owned. If so, managers may employ income-decreasing methods in order to avoid 

unwanted political exposure. 
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The surrogate measure of the sensitivity of management to potential increases in 

political visibility due to high institutional ownership is the ratio of common shares 

outstanding held by institutional investors to total common shares outstanding (INSTIT). 

It is expected that firms with higher institutional ownership are more likely to recognize 

the full transition obligation upon SFAS 106 adoption to decrease firm political visibility. 

H7: Firms with a high (low) percentage of institutional owners 
are more likely to recognize the transition obligation 
(amortize the transition obligation) upon SFAS 106 adoption. 

Union Labor. It is expected that SFAS 106 adoption could be used to 

improve management's position in future negotiation with union labor. The presentation 

of a large impact sends a message to a unionized workforce that the company has been 

overly generous with benefits. Therefore, management could use the numbers resulting 

from SFAS 106 adoption to justify reductions in future employee benefits as well as to 

affect current salary negotiations. 

The variable used to represent the ratio of employees represented by collective 

bargaining agreements to total employees at December 31, 1991 (the first year in which 

SFAS 106 could be adopted) is called UNLAB. The surrogate is calculated from 

information provided in the firms' financial statements, Forms 10-K, or obtained by phone 

or letter from the firms' human resource or legal departments. This variable proxies for 

the additional bargaining power of a unionized labor force over a non-unionized labor 

force. 

UNLAB is first tested as a continuous measure. Secondly, following Ali and Kumar 
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(1994) a median percentage value for the sample is calculated for UNLAB, allowing for 

the creation of a dummy variable D/UNLAB. When comparing the sample of firms, those 

firms showing a UNLAB measure at or above the median are considered to have a large 

UNLAB measure and D/UNLAB is designated "one." Those firms below the median are 

considered to have a small UNLAB measure and D/UNLAB equals "zero." It is expected 

that the main effect of UNLAB (or D/UNLAB) will be significantly related to the method 

of adoption. 

H8: Firms with large (small) union membership 
are more likely to recognize the full transition 
obligation (amortize the transition obligation) 
upon adoption of SFAS 106. 

Hypothesis Concerning International Competition. As discussed in the theoretical 

development of this paper, U.S. firms actively lobby Congress for aid in order to remain 

viable international competitors. Firms that compete with businesses in foreign countries 

may be more likely to highlight their competitive disadvantage in the payment of health 

care costs in order to show need for government to reduce the firms' burden of health care 

costs. 

Two measures are developed as surrogates for internationally competitive firms. 

The first (INTSALES) is a continuous measure calculated as the percentage of 1991 sales 

made to non-related entities outside the United States divided by total sales during 1991. 

INTSALES is first tested in continuous form. 

The second surrogate is created in the form of a dummy variable (D/INTSALES) as 
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suggested by Ali and Kumar (1994). A median value is determined for INTSALES. 

Those firms whose measure of INTSALES falls at or above the median are considered to 

have a high level of international sales and D/INTSALES is designated "one." Those 

firms below the median are considered to have low levels of international sales, and 

D/INTSALES equals "zero." It is expected that the main effect of INTSALES (or 

D/INTSALES) will be significantly related to adoption method. 

H9: Firms with high (low) levels of international sales 
are more likely to choose to recognize the full 
transition obligation (amortize the transition obligation) 
upon SFAS 106 adoption. 

Hypothesis Concerning Government Contractors. Government contractors have 

incentives toward increasing allowable reimbursable costs in present and future contracts. 

By recognizing the full transition obligation at adoption, contractors might expect to 

maximize future reimbursable costs. 

The Department of Defense (DOD) issues an annual list entitled Companies 

Receiving the Largest Dollar Volume of Military Prime Contract Awards (DOD, 1991). 

A dummy variable is created (GCON) as designation of whether or not a firm is to be 

considered a government contractor. If the firm's name is on the DOD list, the firm is 

considered a large government contractor and GCON equals "one". If the firm's name is 

not on the DOD list, the firm is not considered a large government contractor, and the 

measure of GCON equals "zero". It is expected that government contractors will choose 

to highlight SFAS 106 to aid in current and future contract negotiations. 
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H10: Firms that are (not) considered large government 
contractors are more likely to choose full recognition 
of the transition obligation (amortization of the 
transition obligation) upon SFAS 106 adoption. 

Joint Decision Hypotheses 

By virtue of the timing of adoption allowed for SFAS 106 and 109, the FASB has 

made available to managers the possibility of considering the adoption of the two 

standards in a joint decision. Zmijewski and Hagerman (1981) suggest that managers have 

a portfolio of accounting method and timing choices to utilize in creating desired financial 

statement effects. I develeop three measures as surrogates representing an underlying 

joint decision process. 

Joint Timing of SFAS 106 and SFAS 109 Adoption. The first surrogate for a joint 

decision process is simply a measure of the choice of adopting the two standards in the 

same year (JTADOPT). If SFAS 109 is adopted in the same year as SFAS 106, 

JT ADOPT is set equal to "one". Otherwise, JTADOPT equals "zero". I posit that, if the 

adoption of the standards is considered in joint fashion, the method of SFAS 106 adoption 

will be significantly affected. As SFAS 109 was enacted as a means to correct problems 

with SFAS 96, on average SFAS 109 adoption likely will result in positive effects on the 

financial statements of the adopting firms. It is expected that managers may seek to utilize 

the positive effects of SFAS 109 in order to reduce the negative effects of SFAS 106. 

Recognizing the full SFAS 106 transition obligation, therefore, is expected to be 



49 

significantly associated with SFAS 106 and SFAS 109 joint adoption. 

HI 1: Managers who (do not) choose to adopt SFAS 106 jointly 
with SFAS 109 are more likely to choose to recognize the 
full SFAS 106 transition obligation (amortize the SFAS 106 
transition obligation) upon SFAS 106 adoption. 

Effect of SFAS 109 Adoption. Since SFAS 109 on average is expected to 

result in a positive effect upon the financial statements of adopting firms, I also examine 

the size of the SFAS 109 effect to determine if it could influence the manner in which 

managers choose to adopt SFAS 106. The SFAS 109 effect is measured as the change in 

capital as a result of adopting SFAS 109 scaled by total stockholders' equity at December 

31,1991 (NINEEFF). Firms were allowed to adopt SFAS 109 in one of two ways, either 

by recognizing the full impact by means of a cumulative adjustment to the income 

statement or by restating prior years in the footnotes to the financial statements. Thus, the 

numerator for NINEEFF is either the amount of the cumulative effect adjustment for 

SFAS 109 or the total of the change in capital for all prior years restated. 

It is expected that the size of the effect of adopting SFAS 109 will be significantly 

related to the method of SFAS 106 adoption. Thus, managers with large positive SFAS 

109 adoption effects are expected to be more likely to recognize the full transition 

obligation. 

HI2: Firms with large (small) SFAS 109 effects are expected to 
recognize the full transition obligation (amortize the 
transition obligation) upon SFAS 106 adoption. 



50 

Method of SFAS 109 Adoption. A third measure indicative of the possibility of a 

joint decision process is measured as the method of SFAS 109 adoption (NINEMETH). 

As discussed earlier, two methods of SFAS 109 adoption are allowed. A firm may 

recognize the SFAS 109 adoption by means of a cumulative below-the-line income 

statement adjustment or the firm may restate prior years by means of footnote disclosure. 

If a firm shows the SFAS 109 adoption by means of a cumulative adjustment, 

NINEMETH is set equal to "one". If the firm adopts SFAS 109 by means of restatement 

of prior years, NINEMETH is set equal to "zero". 

If a joint decision process is employed, it is expected that adoption of SFAS 109 by 

means of a cumulative adjustment will be associated with full recognition of the SFAS 106 

transition obligation, also resulting in a cumulative adjustment to the income statement. 

By so doing, managers could more clearly, in a side-by-side presentation or even in a 

netted presentation, reducetion the negative impact of SFAS 106 by means of the positive 

impact of SFAS 109. 

HI 3: Firms whose managers elect to adopt SFAS 109 by 
means of a cumulative adjustment (restating prior 
years) are more likely to recognize the full transition 
obligation (amortize the transition obligation) upon 
SFAS 106 adoption. 

Industry Dummies. The variables I am using capture a great deal of industry 

information. For example, union membership is likely a strong surrogate for industry 

membership. The result of including an industry dummy might create multicollinearity, 
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making interpretation of results much more difficult. Thus, I exclude the use of industry 

dummy variables. 

The Model 

A binary dependent variable requires probit or logit regression with maximum 

likelihood estimation. When the characteristics of the choice and the chooser are 

combined, as in this study, the appropriate methodology is logistic regression (Maddala, 

1983). The variables UNLAB, INTSALES, EFFECT, and DERATIO are tested in both 

dichotomous and continuous form as discussed in the hypotheses section. The model can 

be stated as: 

AMORT/ 

RECOG = a + ZuEFFECT + foDERATIO + foFUTDEBT + 6<BATH + foBONUS 

+ 6<jSIZE + folNSTIT + MJNLAB + MNTSALES + 6/oGCON 

+ 6//JT ADOPT +^2NINEEFF + fojNESEMETH + e 

AMORT = amortization of the transition obligation ("zero") 

RECOG = full recognition of the transition obligation during the year of adoption ("one") 

EFFECT = the total SFAS 106 transition obligation scaled by total stockholder's 
equity at December 31, 1991 

D/EFFECT = "one" if above the sample median ("zero" if below the sample median) 
one measure of the total transition obligation scaled by total 
stockholders' equity at 12-31-91, removing any SFAS 106 effects 
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DERATIO = the ratio of total long-term debt to total stockholder's equity at 
December 31, 1991 minus an industry average for similar COMPUSTAT 
industry groupings 

D/DERATIO = "one" if above the median ("zero" if below the median) of the 
measure of total long-term liabilities divided by total equity minus 
industry average for similar COMPUSTAT industry groupings at 
December 31, 1991 

FUTDEBT = the amount of long-term debt acquired in the year of adoption minus the 
amount of long-term debt repaid, as shown on the firm statement of 
cash flows in the year after SFAS 106 adoption, divided by total 
stockholder's equity at December 31, 1991 

D/FUTDEBT = "one" if the long-term debt acquired in the year following SFAS 106 
adoption is equal to or greater than 110% of the long-term debt repaid 
that year; "zero", if otherwise 

BONUS = "one" if pre-tax return on equity at 12-31-91 falls above the 90th 
decile; "zero" if otherwise 

BATH = "one" if pre-tax return on equity at 12-31-91 falls below the 10th decile 
of the sample of firms; "zero" if otherwise 

SIZE = natural log of total assets at 12-31-91 

INSTIT = number of shares owned by institutions divided by total shares 
outstanding at 12-31-91 

UNLAB = the ratio of domestic union employees to total domestic employees 

D/UNLAB = "one" ("zero") if the ratio of domestic union employees to total domestic 
employees is above (below) the median of this measure for the sample of 
firms 

INTSALES = the ratio of sales in other countries to unaffiliated entities to total sales 
for 1991 

D/INTSALES = "one" ("zero") if above (below) the sample median of ratio of sales in 
other countries to total sales during 1991 

GCON = "one" ("zero") if on (not on) the Department of Defense listing of the top 
100 firms in dollar value of defense contracts for 1991 
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JTADOPT = "one" if SFAS 109 is adopted during the same year as SFAS 106 
adoption; "zero" if not 

NINEEFF = the amount by which SFAS 109 changes the retained earnings of the 
firm, either the total cumulative effect or the total changes to prior 
years, divided by total stockholder's equity at December 31, 1991 

NINEMETH = "one" if SFAS 109 was adopted using the cumulative effect method; 
"zero" if adopted by restating prior years 

Statistical Analysis 

The binary dependent model presented is analyzed as a logit model. Logit analysis is 

chosen over probit in that there is no evidence that the requirements for probit analysis 

would be met. The model is estimated with the EFFECT, UNLAB, DERATIO, 

INTSALES, and FUTDEBT variables measured in both dichotomous and continuous 

form. The remaining variables are tested in only one form. 

I begin the statistical analysis by estimating the model with only the economic set of 

variables (EFFECT, DERATIO, FUTDEBT, BATH, and BONUS). The overall 

probability level is assessed to determine if the economic set of variables creates a model 

that is statistically significant. The model is shown to be significant. I then proceed to 

determine a parsimonious set of economic variables. 

In the case of the economic variables, I enter each variable alone. Only DERATIO 

and FUTDEBT are statistically significant. I test the marginal significance of both 

DERATIO and FUTDEBT, each added to other in estimating the model. Each variable is 

shown to produce marginal significance beyond the other variable. I then test the marginal 
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significance of the other economic variables and find that none of the other economic 

variables are marginally significant. Thus, the parsimonious set of economic variables is 

determined to be DERATIO and FUTDEBT. 

I repeat the above procedures for the political set of variables. I estimate the model 

utilizing only the political set of variables (SIZE, INSTIT, UNLAB, INTSALES, and 

GCON). The overall probability level is assessed to determine if the model with political 

measures alone is statistically significant. The model is shown to be statistically 

significant. I proceed to determine a parsimonious set of political variables that is 

statistically significant. 

Theory is used to guide the continued analysis. The accounting literature supports 

the use of size as a surrogate for political visibility. Other literature supports the use of 

union membership. I reestimate the model first with SIZE alone and the with UNLAB 

alone. Each variable shows statistically significance on its own. I test the marginal 

significance of each of the two variables entered after the other. Each variable is 

incrementally significant. I then test the remaining political variables to determine if any 

other variables add marginal significance to SIZE and UNLAB. No other political 

surrogates add marginal significance. So having done, I am able to develop a parsimonious 

set of political variables, those being SIZE and UNLAB. 

I perform the procedure delineated in the previous paragraph separately for the joint 

decision set of variables (JTADOPT, NINEEFF, and NINEMETH). After this analysis, I 

find that each of the three joint decision variables is alone statistically significant and adds 

marginal significant when added to the other joint decision variables. The parsimonious 
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model for the joint decision set is, therefore, JT ADOPT, and NINEEFF, and 

NINEMETH. 

I now test the marginal significance of each of the three parsimonious sets of 

variables. I determine that each set of variables is alone statistically significant and each 

set of variables adds marginal significance to the other two sets of variables. 

The explanatory power of each model is estimated with McFadden's Rho-squared 

statistic. McFadden's Rho-squared in maximum likelihood estimation is similar to R-

squared in ordinary least squares regression estimation. The result is constrained to fall 

between zero and one, and the higher the value, the greater the fit between the model and 

the data. Rho-squared measures observed are typically much lower than the traditional R-

squared observed. 

Determining Variable Probabilities 

In order to interpret the significance of the final seven variables, one must first 

transform the estimated logit regression into a probability estimate of full recognition of 

the SFAS 106 transition obligation. I discuss this calculation in the following paragraphs. 

After determining the parsimonious form of the full model, the probability effect of a 

change in each independent variable is estimated in two steps. In the first step, the means 

of the variables in the final restricted model are multiplied by the betas to determine the 

mean estimate of the dependent variable. The estimated dependent variable in the logistic 

regression is not a probability but rather is the log of the odds ratio. The antilog of the log 

of the odds ratio is the odds ratio. I call the odds ratio k. Solving the equation k divided 
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by (k+1) determines the average probability of all sample firms choosing to recognize the 

foil transition obligation upon SFAS 106 adoption. This is because if 

p = k/(k+l) for any k greater than zero (and all antilogs are greater than zero), then the 

odds of the event are 

p/(l-p) = [k/(k+l)]/[(l-k)/(k+l)] 

= [k/(k+l)-k] 

= k. 

In the second step, for each statistically significant continuous variable of interest 

(evaluated one at a time), I substitute into the final logit equation a one percent increase 

from the its mean, a one percent decrease from its mean, as well as its 10th, 25th, 75th and 

90th percentile values. I hold all other variables constant at their mean values and solve 

for the independent value, the log of the odds ratio. I then determine the antilog of this 

value. Setting the independent value determined equal to k, I solve for k divided by 

(k+1). This determines the probability of a firm's management choosing to recognize the 

full SFAS 106 transition obligation at various values of each continuous variable of 

interest, with all others held at their mean. The probabilities of all continuous variables 

are determined one at a time in this fashion. 

All statistically significant dummy variables are substituted into the final restricted 

form of the logit equation at a value of either "one" or" zero", holding all other variables 

at their mean values. The independent value determined again equals the log of the odds 

ratio. The probability of a firm's management choosing to recognize the full SFAS 106 

transition obligation upon adoption is determined by taking the antilog of this value, 
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setting this value equal to k, and solving for k divided (k+1). The result indicates the 

probability of recognizing the full transition obligation if equal to "one" and the probability 

of recognizing the full transition obligation if equal to "zero". 



CHAPTER 4 

RESULTS 

Research Findings 

Final Sample 

Of the 268 final firms, 244 of the firms elected to recognize the full transition 

obligation upon adoption. Twenty-three firms elected to amortize the transition over 20 

years, and one firm elected to amortize the transition obligation over 16 years. The 

sixteen years for this one firm represents the average remaining service life of the firm's 

employees. 

The sample appears representative of only one end of the typical logit S-curve. 

Typically, most of the larger changes in the logit curve will be found on the upward slope 

in the middle of the logit S-curve. It is to be expected, therefore, that the changes in the 

probability of recognizing the full transition obligation may not prove of great magnitude 

for this sample. The sample appears somewhat homogeneous, composed mainly of large, 

publicly-traded manufacturing, retail and energy firms. 

Tests of the Model 

The model is estimated using the NCSS statistical package logit template. The full 

model and definitions of the variables are listed at the end of Chapter 3. The first tests are 

58 
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performed using dichotomous measures for union membership (D/UNLAB), international 

sales (D/INTSALES), the debt-to-equity ratio (D/DERATIO), and the effect of adopting 

SFAS 106 (D/EFFECT). None of the dichotomous forms of the variables were 

statistically significant. Thus, the remaining discussion of model estimation and results 

reflect only the use of the continuous set of variables for UNLAB, INTSALES, 

DERATIO, and EFFECT. All other variables were tested in only one format. 

Economic Set Estimation. (See Table F) All five economic variables are used to 

estimate the model (EFFECT, DERATIO, FUTDEBT, BONUS, BATH). The model is 

found to be significant at the p=.05 level. Two individual economic variables are shown 

statistically significant — FUTDEBT (p= 001) and DERATIO (p=.10). All other variables 

are found to be insignificant. The model is reestimated using only FUTDEBT. A second 

estimation is done using both FUTDEBT and DERATIO, resulting in a marginal Chi-

Square of 4.20 (alpha = .03). The model is estimated using only DERATIO. The 

resulting Chi-Square is compared to the Chi-Square found when estimating the model 

using both FUTDEBT and DERATIO. The marginal Chi-Square is 5.01 (alpha = .025). 

The marginal Chi-Square of the remaining economic surrogates are insignificant. The final 

parsimonious set of economic variables to be used for further examination, therefore, is 

composed of FUTDEBT and DERATIO. Table F is a listing of the marginal Chi-Squares 

for the final economic set of variables and the individual model estimations related to these 

variables. 
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Socio-Political Set Estimation. (See Table G) Upon estimation of the model with 

the inclusion of the political set of variables (UNLAB, INTSALES, GCON, INSTIT, and 

SIZE), the overall model is shown to be statistically significant (prob = .001). Two 

individual variables are found significant — UNLAB (p=.06) and SIZE (p=.001). All other 

variables are found to be insignificant. 

I then estimate the model using UNLAB alone. I determine the Chi-Square (X2= 

2.88, alpha = .08) and add SIZE to UNLAB and reestimate the model. SIZE adds a 

marginal Chi-Square of 6.85 (alpha = .01) to UNLAB, indicating that SIZE add 

explanatory power beyond UNLAB. SIZE is entered alone into the model estimation, and 

the corresponding Chi-Square is found to be 5.58 (alpha = .02). UNLAB is added to 

SIZE in reestimating the model, and the resulting marginal Chi-Square is 4.15 (alpha = 

.04). This indicates that UNLAB adds significant explanatory power to SIZE. The final 

parsimonious political set is composed of UNLAB and SIZE. Table G enumerates the 

various model estimations, the statistical significance, and the marginal Chi-Square for the 

political variable set. 

Joint Decision Set Estimation. (See Table H) The model is estimated using the joint 

decision set of variables (JT ADOPT, NINEEFF, and NINEMETH). The overall model is 

found statistically significant (p=.0005). Both JTADOPT (p= .0009) and NINEMETH 

(.01) are found to be individually significant, while NINEEFF is insignificant when tested 

alone (p=.14) (NINEEFF shows marginal significance when added to the other two 

variables). 
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The model is estimated using only JTADOPT. Then the model is reestimated using 

both JTADOPT and NINEMETH. The resulting marginal Chi-Square is 4.25 (alpha = 

.05). The model is estimated using JTADOPT, NINEMETH, and NINEEFF, with a 

resulting marginal Chi-Square of 3.11 (alpha = . 12). The model is estimated using only 

NINEMETH. The resulting Chi-Square is compared to the Chi-Square found with both 

JTADOPT and NINEMETH used in the model estimation process. The resulting 

marginal Chi-Square is 10.48 (alpha = .0001). Comparing this to the Chi-Square found 

when estimating the model with all three variables, a marginal Chi-Square of 3.11 is 

determined (alpha = .08). Finally, the model is estimated with NINEEFF alone. The 

resulting is compared to the Chi-Square determined when estimating the model with both 

NINEEFF and NINEMETH. The resulting marginal Chi-Square = 4.98 (alpha = .03). 

This Chi-Square is compared to the Chi-Square found when all three joint decision 

variables are used to estimate the model. The resulting marginal Chi-Square is 10.48 

(alpha = .001). I find that all three variables add explanatory power to the model and that 

each variable appears to contribute separate, important explanatory power to the joint 

decision set of variables. The parsimonious set of joint decision set variables is, therefore, 

determined to be JTADOPT and NINEMETH and NINEEFF. Table H shows the 

marginal Chi-Square, related probability levels, and related model estimations for the joint 

decision set of variables. 

Parsimonious Variable Set. (See Table I) After determining which variables in 

each of the three sets analyzed above are significant and add individual explanatory power 
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to the model, I test to determine if remaining sets of variables add marginal significance to 

the model. I first estimate the model using only the political set of variables (UNLAB and 

SIZE) and determine the Chi-Square value. I then estimate the model using both the 

political set of variables (UNLAB and SIZE) and the economic set of variables 

(FUTDEBT and DERATIO). The resulting marginal Chi-Square is 7.94 (alpha = .025), 

indicating that the economic set of variables adds explanatory power to the political set of 

variables. 

Both the political set (UNLAB and SIZE) and the joint decision set (JTADOPT, 

NINEEFF, and NINEMETH) are then used to estimate the model. The resulting Chi-

Square is compared to the Chi-Square found using only the political set to estimate the 

model. The resulting marginal Chi-Square is 22.53 (alpha = .0001), indicating that the 

joint decision set adds significant explanatory power to the political set. 

i now begin the set regression by estimating the model using only the economic set 

of variables (FUTDEBT and DERATIO). I compare the resulting Chi-Square to the Chi-

Square found when estimating the model using both the economic set of variables 

(FUTDEBT and DERATIO) and the political set of variables (UNLAB and SIZE). The 

resulting marginal Chi-Square is 9.28 (alpha = .01), indicating that the political set of 

variables adds marginal explanatory power beyond the economic set of variables. 

The Chi-Square determined when estimating the model with the economic set of 

variables (FUTDEBT and DERATIO) is compared to the Chi-Square found when 

estimating the model with both the economic set of variables and the joint adoption set of 

variables (JTADOPT, NINEEFF, and NINEMETH). The resulting marginal Chi-Square 



63 

is 17.92 (alpha = .0001), indicating that the joint decision set adds significant explanatory 

power beyond that provided by the economic variable set alone. 

The third step in the set regression commences with a comparison of the Chi-

Square determined when estimating the model with the joint decision set alone 

(JTADOPT, NINEEFF, and NINEMETH) and when estimating the model with both the 

joint decision set and the economic set (FUTDEBT and DERATIO). The resulting 

marginal Chi-Square is 8.81 (alpha = .03), indicating that the economic variables add 

significant explanatory power beyond the joint decision set. 

Finally, the Chi-Square determined when estimating the model with only the joint 

decision set (JTADOPT, NINEMETH, and NINEEFF) is compared to the Chi-Square 

found when estimating the model with both the joint decision set and the political set 

(UNLAB and SIZE). The resulting marginal Chi-Square is 5.95 (alpha = .05), indicating 

that the political set of variables adds important explanatory power beyond that of the 

joint decision set alone. 

From the above set regression analyses, I determine that the political set (UNLAB 

and SIZE), the joint decision set (JTADOPT, NINEMETH, and NINEEFF), and the 

economic set (FUTDEBT and DERATIO) are all separately important in helping to 

explain the method of SFAS 106 adoption. Table I elucidates the marginal Chi-Squares 

and related logistic regression reports. As a final check, I run a correlation matrix on the 

final seven variables and find no evidence of multicollinearity. (See Table J) 
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The Parsimonious Model. 

The parsimonious model is determined from the procedures listing above. Rho-

squared for the final model is . 131245. The model probability is .000002. The final form 

of the model as determined in the previous discussion is as follows: 

RECOG/AMORT = a + bi DERATIO + foFUTDEBT + bsSIZE + ̂ UNLAB 

+ bsJT ADOPT + taNINEEFF + AzNINEMETH + e 

Interpretation of the Stati stically Significant Variables 

The following paragraphs are used to discuss the seven individual variables 

remaining in the final model. In order to develop some interpretation of the meaning of 

the final set of significant variables, it is necessary to transform the estimated logit 

regression into probability estimations. The probability estimation is determined in two 

steps. 

In the first step, the means of the seven variables are multiplied by the estimated 

betas, the result of which is the mean estimate of the dependent variable. This value is not 

a probability but is equal to the log of the odds ratio. The antilog of this value equals the 

odds ratio, which I call k. Solving the equation k divided by (k+1) determines the 

average probability of a firm's choosing to recognize the full transition obligation upon 

SFAS 106 adoption. This number is .961, indicating that the average probability of a 

firm's management choosing to recognize the full SFAS 106 transition obligation upon 

SFAS 106 adoption is 96.1%. 
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The second step requires the substitution of specific variable values into the 

equation and solving for the probability of full recognition of the transition obligation. 

Holding all other variables at their mean value, specific values are substituted for each 

continuous variable of interest (the mean value, 1% above the mean value, 1% below the 

mean value, 10th percentile value, 25th percentile value, 75th percentile value, and 90th 

percentile value), the solution to which equation yields the log of the odds ratio. The 

antilog of the log of the odds ratio is called k. Solving for k divided by k+1 yields the 

probability of a firm's recognizing the full SFAS 106 transition obligation at the variable 

value chosen. Only the values of zero and one can be substituted for dummy variables 

tested (JT ADOPT and N1NEMETH), the solution to which indicates the probability of a 

firm's recognizing the full transition obligation upon SFAS 106 adoption if the dummy 

variable value is zero or if the value is set equal to one. Table K elucidates the findings 

from performing this procedure for the seven statistically significant variables. 

DERATIO (p = .191466). Although significant when evaluated separately and as 

part of the economic set of variables, when evaluated as part of the final complete model, 

the marginal information content of DERATIO becomes statistically insignificant. With a 

regression coefficient equal to .0073938 and a mean of .5272, the variable makes very 

little contribution to the model log odds ratio estimate. As shown on Table K, at the 10th 

percentile value for DERATIO, the probability of full recognition of the transition 

obligation is 96%. At the 90th percentile value for DERATIO, the probability only rises 

to 96.2%. 
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It is interesting that the anticipation of the need for future debt appears to have a 

significant effect upon choice of SFAS 106 adoption method while debt on the books 

prior to the adoption of SFAS 106 has no significant effect upon adoption method. Smith 

(1993) has suggested that many companies deal with their lenders on a "Frozen GAAP" 

basis. Thus, the addition of newly mandated accounting standards does not cause 

technical default for existing debt. Further, even those companies that operate on "Rolling 

GAAP" basis can acquire exceptions from their lenders. As Smith (1993) indicates, 

lenders are in the business of loaning money, and cosmetic accounting changes may not 

trigger technical default. 

The addition of new debt, or the anticipation thereof, however, may cause managers 

to make accounting choice decisions with the need for future debt in mind. Amir (1993) 

finds that bankers and investment counselors perceive that liabilities on the face of the 

financial statements are more likely to be required to be paid than those liabilities that are 

only disclosed by the footnotes to the financial statements. The quantification of the 

SFAS 106 liability on the balance sheet could lend support to Amir's findings. Managers 

may believe that the SFAS 106 liability could complicate the acquisition of future debt. 

FUTDEBTfp=.Q19042). The FUTDEBT variable (mean = .3358) is included as a 

measure of the effect of management's anticipating the need to acquire debt following 

SFAS 106 adoption. It was found that when the company faced more debt than a simple 

rollover in 1993 or 1994, the probability of recognizing the SFAS 106 full transition 

obligation upon SFAS 106 adoption is 91.9%. When the company only had to negotiate a 
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simple rollover in 1993 or 1994, the probability of recognizing the full transition obligation 

upon SFAS 106 adoption increases to 97.3%. 

SIZE (p=.Q03807). Following previous research, a measure of the size the 

company was included. This measure proved significant in determining the method of 

SFAS 106 adoption. A one percent change from the mean in SIZE caused a .6 percent 

change in the probability of recognizing the transition obligation. At the 10th percentile 

of SIZE, the probability of recognizing the transition obligation, the probability of 

recognizing the transition obligation falls to 90.3%. At the 90th percentile of SIZE, the 

probability of recognizing the full SFAS 106 transition obligation upon adoption is 99.8%. 

Firms with fewer than 500 employees were not required to adopt SFAS 106 until 

1995 and are excluded from my sample. The majority of the sample is composed of very 

large, publicly-traded firms. It is possible that, had smaller firms been included in my 

sample, I might have found an even greater variation in method of adoption associated 

with firm size. 

UNLAB (p=.05939Q. The measure of the percentage of the individual firms' total 

domestic employees represented by collective bargaining agreements was significant. I 

hypothesized that the greater the proportion of union labor to total labor, the greater the 

likelihood of management choosing to recognize the full SFAS 106 transition obligation. 

The mean value for UNLAB was 27.4%. 

After performing the probability transformations (described in the methodology 
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section) to determine the probability of full recognition of the SFAS 106 transition 

obligation, I discovered the following. On average, the probability of a company's 

choosing to recognize the full transition obligation was 96.1%. A one percent change in 

union membership above or below the mean union membership did not change the 

probability of recognizing the full SFAS 106 transition obligation. When the union 

percentage was set at zero, the probability of recognizing the full transition obligation fell 

to 93%. At 100% union membership, the probability of recognizing the full transition 

obligation rose to 99%. Intermediate measures of union membership levels revealed the 

following probabilities of recognizing the full transition obligation: 1) 10th percentile, 

probability = 93.2%; 2) 25th percentile, probability = 93.9%; 3) 75th percentile, 

probability = 97.3%; and 4) 90th percentile, probability = 98.3%. 

The results of the UNLAB analysis show that the percentage of union membership 

was significant in determining the method of SFAS 106 adoption. Regardless of the 

percentage of employees that were members of collective bargaining agreements, the 

probability of recognizing the full transition obligation varied from 93% to 99% with the 

given sample of firms. Since 91% of the firms elected to recognize the full transition 

obligation, my particular sample is skewed toward managers' electing full recognition. As 

discussed above, the sample itself appears representative of only one end curve of the 

typical logit S-curve. 

Of the 24 firms whose management elected to amortize the transition obligation, 15 

of the firms (62.5%) had a very insignificant percentage of unionized employees (less than 

10%) or had no union employees. This suggests that had the sample included a broader 
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spectrum of firms, the result of the UNLAB variable might have shown a greater effect. 

It may be that the population of firms from which my sample is drawn could be 

separated into two populations. One group would represent firms that are highly affected 

by union negotiations. The second group would represent firms that are rarely, if at all, 

affected by union negotiations. If I could separate firms into these two separate 

groupings, I might find a stronger effect of unions upon the SFAS 106 adoption decision. 

JTADOPT (p=000254V This variable was used to determine if the act of adopting 

SFAS 109 and SFAS 106 jointly had an effect upon the method of SFAS 106 adoption. 

The results indicate that when the two standards were adopted jointly, the probability of 

full recognition of the SFAS 106 transition obligation was 97.5%. When the standards 

were adopted in different years, the probability of fiill recognition of the transition 

obligation fell to 85.7% . 

The timing allowed for SFAS 106 and SFAS 109 adoption were close in proximity. 

It is likely that the adoption of the two standards was a joint decision. As a percentage of 

total stockholder's equity at December 31,1991, the average effect of SFAS 106 was a 

negative 14% while the average effect of SFAS 109 was a positive 2%. Joint adoption 

allowed companies to lessen the negative effect of SFAS 106 and recognize the future tax 

benefits of SFAS 106. 

NINEEFF (p=. 109844V The variable NINEEFF is included in the analysis to 

measure the how the financial statement impact to the adoption of SFAS 109 might have 
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affected the method of SFAS 106 adoption. I found that when the SFAS 109 effect is 

measured at the 90th percentile, the probability of recognizing the full transition obligation 

upon SFAS 106 adoption is 96.8%. When the SFAS 109 effect is measured at the 10th 

percentile, the probability of recognizing the full SFAS 106 transition obligation falls to 

94.3%. 

NINEMETH fp=088817). A variable was used to test whether or not the method 

of SFAS 109 adoption would assist in predicting the method of SFAS 106 adoption. I 

found that if firm management chose to recognize the adoption of SFAS 109 by means of 

a cumulative effect adjustment, the probability of recognizing the full transition obligation 

of SFAS 106 was 96.4%. If firm management elected to recognize SFAS 109 adoption 

by restating prior years, the probability of their choosing to recognizing the full SFAS 106 

transition obligation fell to 90.2% . 

Of the 268 firms examined, only 24 of the firms elected to recognize SFAS 109 

adoption by means of restating the prior years. This result is logical in that SFAS 109 on 

average had a positive effect in the amount of 2% of the firms' December 31, 1991 total 

stockholders' equity. That number would be better highlighted when presented as a 

cumulative effect at the bottom of the income statement. 

Insignificant Variables 

EFFECT (p=.42) For my sample of firms, the measure of the negative impact of 

SFAS 106 on the financial statement had no effect upon the method of SFAS 106 
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adoption. The average negative impact of SFAS 106 as a percentage of total 

stockholder's equity at December 31, 1991 was 14% with a range from zero percent to 

120%. It was expected that the greater the negative effect, the more likely management 

would be to choose to amortize the SFAS 106 transition obligation. The measure of the 

negative impact of SFAS 106 on the financial statements appears to have contained no 

information on the choice between the two allowed methods of SFAS 106 adoption that is 

not contained in DERATIO and FUTDEBT. Since SFAS 106 required only a cosmetic 

change, management may not have considered the effect when choosing an adoption 

method. 

BATH Cp= ,50V BONUS Cp=.48") Neither the "big bath" hypothesis nor the "bonus" 

hypothesis held in this study. It was hypothesized that managers of firms with extremely 

high levels of income and extremely low levels of income would be more likely to adopt 

SFAS 106 by recognizing the full transition obligation. In talking with individual 

managers at several of the firms, it became clear that the adoption of SFAS 106 likely did 

not have an adverse affect upon management bonuses. Bonus contracts for top 

management for several firms included clauses to exclude the effect of newly mandated 

accounting standards. Often bonus payments are based upon the firm's market stock price 

and other measures that have little or nothing to do with a non-cash adjustment. 

It could also be that the measures chosen to test the "big bath" hypothesis and the 

"bonus" hypotheses were inadequate to capture management's choosing to reduce income 

in the year of SFAS 106 adoption to defer income for future bonuses or to take every big 
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income hit in one year. It was noted, however, that 26 firms chose to adopt SFAS 106, 

SFAS 109, and SFAS 112 simultaneously when all three of the standards had negative 

impacts on the bottom line of the income statement. This might bear resemblance to at 

least one form of the "big bath" hypothesis. All three standards were going to have a 

negative effect; therefore, one might as well take the hit for all of them in one year and 

blame any negative impact on the actions of the FASB. 

INSTIT (p = .61) With the use of the sample chosen, the percentage of each firm's 

stock held by institutional investors contained no information on the choice of the method 

of SFAS 106 adoption not contained in SIZE and UNLAB. The mean value for this 

variable was 54% (median 55%). In the sample utilized, high institutional ownership is 

the norm. It may be that employing a sample with a greater diversity in the level of 

institutional ownership would lead to better differentiation and better analysis of the 

institutional ownership issue. 

INTSALES (p=83). The percentage of non-domestic sales to non-affiliated 

entities is insignificant. The purpose of the INTSALES variable was to attempt to 

measure the effect of a company's level of competition with firms in other countries that 

are not required to pay medical care costs directly. It was hypothesized that the greater 

the proportion of total firm sales out of the country to non-affiliated entities, i.e. the more 

the firm is hindered by competing with firms not required to pay these benefits, the greater 

the likelihood that the firm would fully recognize the transition obligation upon adoption. 
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It is very possible that this measure is a very weak attempt to measure competition 

with foreign firms that do not have to pay direct medical costs. It might be more 

beneficial to look at specific countries' methods of paying for health care and compare 

between firms that sell in different countries. 

It is also possible that, since 91 % of the firms chose to recognize the full SFAS 106 

obligation, and given the nature of competition today, most firms today are internationally 

competitive. This would be more probable for a sample composed of large, publicly-

traded firms as are in my sample. If most of my sample firms face competition in 

international markets, then a measure of sales out of the country to non-affiliates might 

not logically differentiate between methods of adoption. 

GCON (p=19). The purpose of GCON was to attempt to determine how firms that 

sell primarily to the federal government would adopt SFAS 106. I hypothesized that 

government contractors would choose to fully recognize the SFAS 106 transition 

obligation upon adoption in order to improve present and future contract negotiations 

with the federal government. Of the 268 firms, 43 of the firms appear on the Department 

of Defense (DOD) listing of large defense contractors. Of these 43 firms, only four 

choose to amortize the transition obligation. 

It is possible that the use of the DOD listing is not an adequate means to 

differentiate between the firms that contract heavily with the federal government and those 

firms that do not. Many of the sample firms may have large sales to the federal 

government but may not be listed as on the DOD's top 100 firms. Thus, the measure 
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chosen to differentiate government contractors from non-government contractors may be 

simple inadequate. 

Large government contractors often establish Voluntary Employee Beneficiaries 

Associations (VEBA) in order to reap immediate tax benefits for the prepayment of other 

postretirement benefits. Further, according to footnote comments attached to the financial 

statements of several large government contractors, government contracts typically allow 

for reimbursement for amounts contributed to a VEBA. It is logical, therefore, that the 

method of SFAS 106 adoption may have nothing to do with whether or not a firm is 

considered a large government contractor. Rather, one might include government 

contractors with rate-regulated utilities and regulated financial service institutions in that 

they respond in a manner consistent with the rules under which they are required to 

operate. 

Summary of Findings 

The basis for this study proposes to test whether traditional economic analysis alone 

may be insufficient for explanation of accounting choice. Much of the accounting choice 

literature approaches accounting choice with only one potential explanation. 

Consequently, much of the accounting choice literature has been found wanting. 

Zmijewski and Hagerman (1981) argue that it is unlikely that managers consider only one 

or few factors when selecting between alternative accounting method choices. Rather, 

they may choose accounting procedures on a portfolio basis and consider the various 
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alternatives and their effects concurrently. Cooper and Sherer (1984) also suggest that 

manager motivation cannot be captured by a purely economic evaluation. Demski (1988) 

concurs, adding that traditional analysis ignores important exogenous reasons for 

accounting choice. Thus, traditional analysis may prove a truncated means of accounting 

choice analysis. 

The goal of this study is to examine three different types of motivations that might 

cause a manager to choose a particular type of accounting method. I found that all three 

types of motivations ~ economic motivations, socio-political motivations, and maximizing 

joint adoption with SFAS 109 — are important in helping to explain the method of SFAS 

106 adoption. This study illustrates that accounting choice is a complex and multi-faceted 

problem that cannot be captured by one single facet of analysis. Results support the 

notion that expanded analysis of accounting choice is necessary to work toward a better 

understanding of accounting choice. 

The specific findings for this sample of firms suggests that the ratio of debt-to-

equity prior to the adoption of SFAS 106 (DERATIO), anticipating the need for new debt 

after SFAS 106 adoption (FUTDEBT), the size of the firm (SIZE), the percentage of 

employees involved in collective bargaining agreements (UNLAB), the method of 

SFAS 109 adoption (NINEMETH), the act of jointly adopting SFAS 106 and SFAS 109 

(JTADOPT), and the effect of SFAS 109 adoption upon the capital of the firm 

(NINEEFF) were significantly associated with method of SFAS 106 adoption. 

Economic motivations are implied in the adoption of SFAS 106 as shown by the 

significance of management's anticipating the acquisition of future debt. Recognizing the 
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full SFAS 106 transition obligation would place a large liability on the balance sheet of the 

adoption firm. Managers anticipating the need for future debt were more likely to avoid 

placing that liability on the balance sheet. 

Firms having employees with greater union representation were more likely to 

choose to maximize the financial statement representation of the SFAS 106 transition 

obligation. I propose that this finding may represent management's need to employ 

accounting strategically as a took for bettering negotiations with unions. Size has been 

proposed to represent certain political implications, although its interpretation has created 

difficulty for many researchers. Thus, it is arguable that political implications were 

important aspects of the SFAS 106 adoption decision. 

Finally, the SFAS 106 adoption decision is apparently made jointly with the SFAS 

109 adoption decision. Part of the reason for this must be a result of the specific years 

allowed for adoption of the two standards. Another reason is the complementarily of the 

two standards. SFAS 106, on average, produces a material negative impact in the amount 

of 14% of December 31, 1991 total stockholders' equity while SFAS 109, on average, 

produced a material positive impact in the amount of 2% of December 31,1991 total 

stockholders' equity. It is logical that, when two such accounting standards are mandated, 

managers would seek to reduce a mandated negative impact with a mandated positive 

impact. The findings of this study are not inconsistent with this idea. The evidence 

suggests that managers may have considered SFAS 106 and SFAS 109 as a joint decision 

and chose adoption method and timing to maximize the desired effects of the standards. 
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Contributions and Limitations 

Contributions 

The study has the potential to contribute to the accounting choice literature is 

several different ways. First, the study acknowledges the complexity of the accounting 

choice issues and expands the accounting choice literature to include an multi-faceted 

approach. Second, this study explores the adoption process of a relatively new standard 

that has not previous been examined. Third, the study examines the impact of creditor 

stakeholders by looking at firms' debt structure before and after SFAS 106 adoption. 

The findings of such a study may have important implications for accounting 

theorists as well as for the FASB. The results indicate that variables other than those 

representing economic motivators may have significant influence upon the adoption 

policies of business firms. Thus, the FASB and accounting theorists may need to expand 

their explorations of such to include potential political motivations, joint decision 

implications, as well as other factors. It might be suggested that certain standards are 

purely technical in nature, other standards are created with implicit or explicit economic 

motivations, and a third group of standards may have implications beyond pure technical 

or economic discussion. Information gleaned about adoption method choice will be of 

value to the FASB in considering future standards. 

Strategic posturing from politically economic motivation may be found potentially 

inherent to SFAS 106. The importance of discussion of such posturing lies in the potential 

for firms to improve their positions in various political negotiations by choosing certain 

allowed accounting methods over other allowed methods. Accounting may be used as a 
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political tool in various negotiations as justification to reduce employee health care 

benefits or to influence national health care policy. Such uses of accounting supersede the 

traditional economic informational and historical purposes the FASB espouses for 

accounting standards. 

Finally, the FASB should find important evidence of the joint adoption of two new 

accounting standards. The effects of concurrent standard adoption should be analyzed to 

ascertain whether or not each standard has created the FASB's desired effect. Studies 

such as the current one should aid the FASB toward a better understanding of how and 

why accounting standards are adopted by managers making the adoption decisions. 

Limitations 

A study such as the one proposed is necessarily a joint test of any estimation models 

utilized as well as the theory or theories that the models are generated to test. The results 

of such a study may or may not yield statistically significant associations; causal 

implications, however, cannot be proven. Conclusions from this study should be 

constrained by the acknowledgement of limitations in the theories, in the models, in the 

surrogate measures, and in any assumptions utilized. 

Implications for Future Research 

This study presents many possible extensions for future research. First, this 

particular study deliberately omits financial services companies and rate-regulated utilities 
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from the sample employed. The reasoning behind omitting such firms is their special 

regulations and capital considerations that are not typical of other firms. One possible 

extension of this study, therefore, would be to examine the SFAS 106 adoption choices of 

various financial services companies and rate-regulated utilities. As a result of the present 

study, it may also be appropriate to include in the regulated group of firms those firms that 

contract heavily with the federal government. The federal government may dictate how 

federal contracts will allow for reimbursement of expenses associated with specific 

mandated accounting standards. Accounting choice may thus be "regulated" by such 

dictates. 

A second possible study might examine the history of accounting for employee 

benefits over the life of one particular firm. Such a study would reveal important social, 

political, and economic aspects of the employee benefits issue. A long-lived firm that has 

offered employee benefits for an extensive period of time might be very interesting for 

such a study. 

The changes in employee benefits during the adoption process of SFAS 106 is also 

an interesting issue. Determining the percentage reduction in spending as well as the 

changes in plan structures during the adoption phases and beyond for a given sample of 

firms would provide insight into the potential impact of accounting regulation. 

The changes in employee benefits could also be examined during the FASB's 

discussion period on postretirement benefits. SFAS 81 initiated the disclosure 

requirements for non-pension retirement benefits. An analysis might capture the changes 

in employee benefits between the passage of SFAS 81 and SFAS 106. 
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Small firms, defined as those having fewer than 500 employees, were not required 

to adopt SFAS 106 until 1995. After the issuance of the 1995 financial statements, a 

series of studies such as the ones discussed earlier can be performed looking only at 

smaller firms. Further, comparisons can be made between smaller and larger firms with 

regard to adoption timing, method, effect, and changes in benefits. As discussed earlier in 

the paper, the sample used in the present study presents only one end of the typical S-

curve. I believe that including smaller firms could improve the analysis with a more 

complete population for analysis. It may also provide important implications for the Big 

GAAP versus the Little GAAP issue. 

The assumptions made with choice of discount rates and medical trend rates can 

cause vastly different effects in adopting SFAS 106. A future study might look at the 

differences in assumptions used and their financial statement effects. 

An examination between previous methods of accounting for non-pension 

postretirement plans (i.e. the pay-as-you-go or the terminal accrual method) and the 

method of SFAS 106 adoption also could be performed. This might indicate the degree to 

which previous accounting practices affect new accounting practices. 

The variables in the present study have been analyzed by means of a logit model. 

Path analysis, however, could be used to expand the understanding of how the presence or 

absence of certain of these variables might affect the decision as to method of SFAS 106 

adoption. 

Information gathered in this study could be used to compare the timing of SFAS 

106 adoption with the timing of future union negotiations. Such analysis might yield more 
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complete information as to the use of SFAS 106 adoption to affect negotiations with 

unions. 

A further analysis of the effect of manager's anticipating the acquisition of future 

debt upon SFAS 106 adoption presents a veiy interesting study. The present study 

measured the acquisition of future debt a dummy variable (future debt present or absent) 

in two years following SFAS 106 adoption. A better analysis of manager's anticipating 

future debt could include a continuous measure of the amount of future debt acquired, 

examining two years before and after the adoption of SFAS 106. 

The literature suggests variables that do not perform well at classifying the 

companies whose management chose amortization of the SFAS 106 transition obligation. 

An in-depth study of firms whose managers chose to amortize the transition obligation 

might yield important insights for future accounting choice studies. 

Those variables that were not found statistically significant may prove important for 

study. Holthausen, Larcker, and Sloan (1995) and Gaver, Gaver, and Battistel (1995) 

contest Healy's bonus hypothesis. This study found no evidence that managers considered 

bonuses when making the SFAS 106 decision. A critical look at the bonus hypothesis may 

be needed. 

The FASB structured the allowable adoptions of SFAS 106 and SFAS 109 in such 

a way as to allow netting of income effects in adopting the two standards. It would be 

difficult for the FASB to be unaware of the possibility of managers making such adoption 

decisions. Studying the political aspects of the FASB's promulgation process for the two 

standards may reveal important information about possible political concessions in the 



82 

standard-setting process. Finds from such a study might be important to standard setters 

as well as to accounting academics in their efforts toward developing a better 

understanding of the standard-setting process. 



TABLE A 
ADOPTION STUDIES OF SFAS 87 

Authors 

Ali & Kumar, 1994 

Research Findings 

Interactions between effect upon income 
and firm characteristics enhance the 
ability to explain adoption timing. 

Langer& Lev, 1993 Only increasing reported earnings consistently 
discriminates between early and late adopters. 
No other variables examined are explanatory. 

Sami & Welsh, 1992 Early adopters were large firms with large, more 
fiiUy funded pension obligations, subject to 
more accounting-based debt constraints than 
than late adopters. 

Senteney & Strawser, 1990 Early and late adopters are not significantly 
different in terms of size. Nor did early 
adopters materially increase income in a 
greater percentage than late adopters. 

Norton, 1989 

Stone & Ingram, 1988 

SFAS 87 caused a drastic reduction in the 
income reported. Separating early adopters 
into 1985 and 1986 adopters shows that 
many early adopters were not more fully 
funded than late adopters. 

Firms that chose to adopt early showed 
minimal balance sheet effects and large 
decreases in pension expense. 
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TABLEB 
TIMELINE COMPARISON 

OF CONGRESSIONAL HEARINGS 
WITH FASB'S WORK ON SFAS 106 

Congress 

Medicare Program Enacted 

Congressional Hearings on 
Lost Pension Rights 

ERISA Passed 
Hearings on National 
Health Care Proposals 
(all through early to 
mid-1970s) 

Congressional Hearings on-
Pension Fund Raids 

Hearings on Health Care-

Hearings on Impact of 106-

Hearings on National 
Health Care 
Clinton's Econ. Summit 

Time Frame FASB 
I 

1950 
I 
I 
I 

1960 j 

I 
I 

1970 
1971 FASB places postretirement 

I benefits on its agenda. 
1974 FASB splits off pensions as 

I as important separate project. 
1 

1975 FASB adds OPRB to agenda. ̂  
I 
I 
I 

1980 
I 

1984 FASB issues SFAS 81 
1985 
1986 - FASB creates task force for OPRB 

I 
Early i989 - FASB sends ED on SFAS 106 
-Late 1989 

1990 FASB passes SFAS 106, little change 
I 

•1992 
I 

•1993 

OPRB «= Other Postretirement Benefits (non-pension benefits) 
106 •= Statement of Financial Accounting Standard 106 
ED = Exposure Draft 
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TABLEC 
DETERMINATION OF FINAL SAMPLE 

Original firms listed in Accounting Trends and Techniques 600 

Firms eliminated that do not report OPRB (211) 

Firms eliminated that do not have December year-ends (102) 

Regulated public utilities eliminated ( 1) 

Firms with major restructuring eliminated ( 3) 

Firms for which union information was not made available (15> 

Final Sample 268 

The following 13 pages show in detail each of the original 600 firms, each firm that was 
eliminated, the reasons for elimination, and the final sample of firms. 

NUM = numbering of original 600 companies listed in Accounting Trends and Techniques 
ATT# = numbering of companies in Accounting Trends and Techniques 
UTIL/FIN = a rate-regulated utility or financial services company 
ACCR OPRB = company that reports accruing other postretirement benefits 
STRUCT CHGS = company with bankruptcy, major reorganizations, etc. 
NO DATA = inadequate data available 

85 



c o 
86 

CO 
c g> 

in 

© 
E 
< 
«•— 
o >» 
c 
a 

E 
o 
O 

c 

E 
3 < 

c 
m o 

£ < 

5 & 
6 E 

<33 
<2 £ 

3 s 

"8"S 
L. L. 
CL CL 

M o w 
X 2 

c c d 
TO <0 C 
o o — 

Q) <5 < 
E E ? 

< < u-

0) 
c 

§. a 

c < 3 

O JC ~ p> 

N o £ 
o a . 

§ & 

E E 
< < 

E 

5 
JC 

£ 
3 
CD 

<5 
ZJ 
CD 
JZ 

0) 
0) 
*C 
w 

J i 

•a ~ 
"C o) 
o <y 

§ 5 

8 ? ! 
o w e 

E E ' S : 
< < < 

2 
ai 

a: 
o 

jo 

<c 

<1> 
*55 

a. In 
c 

I 
0) 
O) 
XI 
CO 
CQ 

2 

O <D O 
c c 

tn in in ^ 
d» a a> o 
5k >* >. c 

(N N CM (N (N (N O) (D O) 

C C >* £ C J>» Jk C £Z ]>* C JK C 5K J>% ><* C C 5* 

— O C M O C M C Q C M C M C M O C ' J C N C M O J t N l - - - - - -• 

w o o 
>% c c 

• CM ' 

<o *o co tn <o 
Q I Q > 0 > < I > o q ) O < I ) O < I I O 
> . > . > , > , C >» C >. C >N c 

C N ( N N ( N O ) ( D C N I C N ( N ( M O ) < D ( N ( D f M t N ( M O ) 

_ « tn 
o q) a> 
c -

tS 
3 

8 
UJ 

£ 

3 t> J» 

~ UJ CL 

(D S 

° g 8 £ 
"s - 1 o 

M l 5 « U 

§ l l 

r « l 

8 J: a. ZJ 

< « £ « £ < <3) O r- O © S l 

lfl(D N C O O I O ' 

lO CO CO O) 
CN <N CN tN 

g | I ^ 
i S s r 

£ 2 # 2 
J E g n . 
*• 2 "•?? fl) 

£ "a> o 
« CO H C 
3 C C C C O C C ~ 
m 8 8 3 3 - " 8 s ii "§"§'§ WS "S § 
| | E E | ? E 1 E 

c 
o tn c 

= I 

•a 

< < < li. < < < 

^ § 5 

| I „ 

s i i i j ! 
5 p g r c 2 2 

| | 3 ? h ! o 

8 8.f 1-S.g S I 
E E c c & H c i 

*C ,<C * 

§ 3 3 5 8 8 5 5 8 ! 

<o 
o 
*c 
to 

E o 

"O ~ 

CO c is 

E 

c 2 
~ a> 

| -

£ 
§-

= £ - l ! 

$ 1 * 8 
c * o . 3 "SS -S - £ 
J 2 ^ o l ? " I 9 

S ! c § ° - E ? . S 

: s s ® <o < feSBS 

t 

• N C O ' * f l f ) ( O N C O O ) O r - ( N C O < ^ l O ( O N ( 0 0 ) O r - N r O ' t i n ( O N C O C D O r - ( N | C O ' < t l O 
• T - ^ - T - i - T - ^ - T - T - C N O J t N C M t N C N f M r M C M C N r O C O C O C O C O C O C O C O C O C O ^ ^ V r ^ ^ " ^ 



87 

§-g 
O ~ 
O rr 
£ g 

cii.2 
| E 1 3 
2 5 E 

I - I 

3 1 | 
= • 
(0 ffli (0 
CO CO CQ 

E 
o 
0 « 

1 
0) 
CQ 

is 
S i 
GJ m £ Q 
«<* 
E ^ 
<0 o 

sz co 
® CD 

S (u 
fl) x: 
CQ p 

2 

O <!> 
OXJ 

co -
u> o o 
c w c 

1 3 c 

H m CQ 

E 
o 
O 
£ 

a* 
W 
f® 

o 
(0 
'l. 
CQ 

| | | 
sU 
| o | d 
1 g.I-5 s 
C « _ CO O 
2 c CQ £Q 0-
OQ 3 O O O 

6 
c 

c 
o 
w 
c 
l_ 
a 

& 
5 

O 
£ >; 

S ' I 
< E 

a> O 

I I 
CO IL 
H u 
- o a 8 

CO 

1.1 
n +; 

d E £ 
s 0 8. 
a-£ o 
3 c O 
2 O c 

o l i 
o CO o 
Je .c jc 
U J O O 

d p-
c c E 
j § * 

y i 

u ra cr 
* c UJ 

H% 
r C CO 
obo 

C eg" 

1 & ° g E O 

& 3 j 

3 « 1 
" 9 l 
(0 (0Q. 
8 8 £ 
o o « 
<!)<»§ 

(O(O(0M(O(O(O(O<On O0t)(D(DO(])Q(U(l>||}O 
>* >. 5k >. >* C 0OOQ<l><U(D<DOa>O<yO<D(D<uO<u<D 

_ _ >sc c c >.>.>. >» c >* c 5* c >*>>>. c >, > _ „ _ 
CMrsJtNOSr^COCNCNtNCMtNOtNCDCNCNlr-OCMC^CNC^CNCNCOCDr^r^CNr^fMCMC^CNf^CNICMCNCNCDCNCMCMOCXJLOCO 
t~ r~ T~ r~ r* T~" t~ r* v- t~ T— t~ t— t- t— t"~ r— t- r- t*~ r* t— *— r— *— r— *— *— *— *— *— *— 

. . . o s s s s n s s a 
>->->. c s.Ss.Si.S.SJ.S.g.s.c 

O O $ O 
C 5k C 

g Q 

e - e § 8 g? 

- w s c 

i s i = 

l i s - ! 

' l i j S 

- "C 
3 

M © ® £0 CD q <» 

i l l i u l s , 

I £ 1 

i - 3 | 

i S 3 i s 

U i t i * 
> ° 2 2 2 §-
J 55 5,5 | 

8 I ? C C 

ID ID GQ £0 fiQ 

n R 
3 S> 

- I I I 

I s I I 

f f l i 

i i f a S 
CQ CQ D O O 

c c g d 
.O ~ <-? £Q 

i s * i s 
n n O ^ 

5 e u 2 
= ~ •« *5 cL_S 

>%& 8 t s 
L <0 C0 CO «l <0 

rS*£iP:«£!S2&t;SS2i5:£JS2:&&fc:$22J£iS2^SQ$S£:22S3OT""CN,<0l0|s-1t-
NNSSflOOOOO(DOOOOfl30)0)a)0)0)0)COO)OOOOOOOOT-t-T-t-T-r-(N| 

« l § 
S d - s a. 
0 = dl£ & 

s i ® ? 
O O F F 

CO CO CM CM CM 
o cni cj 

§ ^ § § 8 5 S J S S ! 8 S i o S S 8 5 < o 8 S S S f c 8 § S i < K K s . i ^ i : ^ K R i ^ t N K O ^ W W N f l O Q O r - C M C O ^ t O l O N C Q O J O r - M 
" ' " ' ' cocooocooooococooooooSojo) 



88 

6 
c 

d 
<o c c 

• 

•g|| 
s o ? 

; c 
° M « « T3 JQL! 
C *C O 
n A* A • 

C "O 

H 

I 

o £ 
a> 
c 

c *c o 

5 5 3 

o o £ 

^ 3 

c 
o 

I, 
aJ 
5̂  — 

E 
3 
g 

^ CO 

2 
c -£ 

3 3 3 

s | | 
o o o 

E 
o 
O 

<u 0) , 

C 

I 

£ 1 
UI c 
0 5 
C < 
E 3 
£ -c 

o o 

s 
& 

o 
o 
(0 
c 

2 

5 

if 
E J? 

5 1 
00 Ui 

E 
o 
O 

o 
CO 
«3 

3 

of 

oL 

2 
& 

o 

« 
2 
CD 
<>d 

3 
Q 
o 
sz 
H 

£ 
o 
O 
oej 

o 
E 
(D 
2: 

5 
c 
o 
D_ 
3 
"O o 

<>3 
O 
LU 

s-| 

t i l 
O-g 2 

g s i 

H |3 
LLI E C 
<D W -2 
£ w « 
H- uu hi 

c 
o 

2 c 
8. o B o 

S 2 

E i-o i 

J 3 " 3 

It Is 
Ui Ui Ui U. 

O p O O p o Q U ) 
.(O<O<O(O0(O<O(O(O(O(I)O).«) <O<O<O<0I<O 
2<UV<D<U<D4>4)Q(D<l><D(t)0Q)0<|)(D(D<D<uWWww > u 3* >*>,>* c >«>*>* C >s C >s >, >> >v >» C C C C 

(N(NOJ(N(NO)M(N{Nr-<N(N(NCNa)t-ljnO<N(N(00)(N(N(NCM(NONO(N(Nl(NT-CMCNMOOCDO>CO(NCN(NCSlCNOO 
T-T-T-T-T- T-T-T-T-T~T-T-T-

<O<O0><O<O-.<O<O<O«9<OO)_«9(O<O 
O)mOfl)fi>O04)O(UlDOO(l)d)d>. 
>> >N >, >s >, c >s5»?,5k>,5-.c >,>>>. c >* >S >* >* C C 

a-CO « c 
ion ? a £ 

o L O 
5 5 C t 
§ 1=3 E 
2 2 3 3 U L. J J 
O O O O 

giSc |"3 go 

g £ Q 2 *6 
> C & £ 3 * Q 
? o ,9 ® I | o 
» O O 0 c U. 
tO g^-§,g 

oScSiSSS 

8> § S s s s S> 

SS8§5fe88SS£J83§8fe§: 

od1X1 ui 0 

g Sl> 

^<0^2 

I l « f -

* 1 1 « g J 

C 0- CL O - • 

3|«isi. 

- O 

f o i l 
2 ES & 
o £Z.o 2 
e g | 3 | 
aj ui £ c c 
a> a> <0 .2 jz 
(0 JC (0 (D O 
ui H ui ui ui 

O S-S 

§ « 3 S c g 
£ 'S o a. o » 

p p r 

? I i 
o a) 0) 
i2 E E 
Ui Ui Ui Ui Ui 

ir-(OTf lfl(DNOOO 
»rs-r̂ istat̂ rs.)V.rs.0Q f58SS83£SS§S!5;S838&88iS88 

T-*-T-T-T-*-T-T-T-T~T-T-T-T-T-T--r-T-<M<N<N| 

(N(0^(0(DNOOO)OT-(NOa^lO(DNOOO)Or-(NCO^ir)(DNCOO) 
;r-rr-T-T-TT-T-N(N(MfM(MN(MNfMM«(0(0WP)«W{0nn 



8 9 

o 
O 

c 
-S 6 
2 — 

I 
o 
O 
3 
S 

© 
*c 
a 
E 
<3 

£ 
<D 

c f f £ 

|3|& 
fc *- o o 
5 l ? o 

> 
o 5 t : JS 

s < 5 8 . < 
E "S S <» 
o o S x: 
LLU. l i .H 

i 

(0 
O 

if 
g o 

Q uu 

I s 
11 
O 01 
O O 

2 ^ 

& i 
0 3 

2 c 
O CD 
5 55 

2 2 
O 0) 
c c 
OJ 0) 
O O 

E 
o 
O 

<0 
a 

o 
<D 
0 

& 

*3 
-2 s 

E * 
O «0 
O g} 
O P 
*D to 
s i 
o 

m 0 
a> © 

I • = 
£ o — 

o 
a.03 at 
E © •£ 
• g 2 
a 2 5 
« 0 
l a : 5 
< § 5 3: 

c .y 

i s 

1 1 

3 = 
— CO 
J2 E 
O E 
© 3 
f O 

o c 
^ a 

s i 
£ o 

n 
c 
(0 
E 
(0 
X 
od 

fi «• 
O to 
X X 

CO 
X 

I 
o 
o 
o 

(0 
X 

c 
o 
O 

c 
c 

*C 

© 0 © 0 0 © a ) © © © 0 < u 0 © © © © a } < i ) © © 
>* C >. C C >. >» 3k 3* >% C >. C >*>%>,>.>*>%>»>»£; :>»;». l_ >« >.>%>* >, 

)^0<M<MfN<N(NOaT-0<NfNT-m(NCNr-(MCNfO<NCMlOfNfMOJ(NCN 
T-T—T—T-T-T-'r-T-T-'T-T- T™ T"" T— T~ V~ T" T— T" T-

^ <fl <0 w O <u © 

cm rr CM <0 • 

A ( A 0 t f ( O « 9 0 A « ( O 
>» C >N >*>»>»>» >N C >•>» 

040CM<N<DCNCN<N<MO<OCN 

w O © O 
. >* c >> c 

<0 _ «> <0 © O Q) © S*» C >» >» 
• <N 

U. UL 

2 d . 

& | c ^ I 

i f i p s l I 

a S l l S l ^ i 
9 o ? § t S = • « S--C 
2 2 * * 1 5 8 - 1 3 § 

LLLLU.U.U-LLULLLi~OCDOX 
I N « ^ l O C D O ) t - N ^ N f l O Q t - W C 3 « ) . 

•CN<NCNCNCN<OCOfOCO<OCO 

C 2 & 

| U J 0 

o S f e o © ~ © © 

l E o f E i E 
© © © 
0 0 0 O O O O 

h-
a 

. ^ . i c § 
8 « l £ l . 8 E 

j £ co o 
i^^r4^6l6lNHNNCMCMCNCMCNiiN<NCMCMCNiCNCN<NCNCNiCMCNICNICac5 

•CNCO^tnCONCOCDr-fM 
x r - ^ t ^ T f T f T f T f T f T r i o i o 

2 - g « ? O c i l g ~ x 
© U s S P E I S * 

E JS x 

> JC i ; X! Js 5 v ® W <8 tTJ S F O F O O I I I I I 
8 3 8 1 5 8 8 8 3 8 
CMCNCM<NCN<NCMCN<N 

o *- <0 10 
_ h-. h- h-
CM CM <N CM CN 

§ ^ ^ 5 5 S § ^ 5 5 i n i ! n t o K < n l o t n [ n ! n S 8 5 D S 8 S < b lO t -CMCOTf tOCONCOOQT-CMCOl tQ© 
• r^f^.r-f^N-r-.h-f^r^f^oooQcooocococo 



90 

O <0 

o O 
X X 

£ % 
6 

J= 
§ 

6 
>.JE 
C . 

a<0 © 

O 

O - O C 

2 * © 
Q I ® 
P - = CO 
O 

O 

Eli 

C ™ 
O 2 

as 
S S 
U CQ 
0) _ 

^ <0 
JS C 
I S 

1 2 
© © 

F 1 

E 
O 

O 

£ 
W 
C 
O 
« 

E © 
C 

CD 
> 

O 

(Q 

if 
§ I 
© 
> 

A : C 

W S 
© 22 
E sz 
TO O 

C © 

o 

§ CL 

8 I 
G ® 

S I 

(0 

i! 
TJ S 
© O 
™ & 

1 8 
<0 V; 
C 1 1 

8§ 
0 M 

§ J 
01 . £ 

SZ 

C C 

5 | « £ g i l 
O O 

O Q $ R -

L ? S I > 7 O FU 
£ X E J 
JS? © sz © 
5 I E 5 I E 

" U 
C 
O 
C 

£ 

3 

W 

I 

e & 
RM 
O 

0 

1 

(0 (A ID TIL (A (A <A M 

C C > » C > , > . > > C 5 K > S > S > S > , > S > , > » C > % > * > » > , : > * > * : > » > * 5 £ » C > * > * > N > , > S > S > , C >N C 

( N ( M O C J ( N O R - { \ | T - 0 { N N ( N O I { N » ( N F M 0 1 C M O ( D F M C M M N { M ( N ( D ( N < D " 
T - T * T - T - R - T - 1— T - * - T»" -P- ^ ^ T " T~ T~ T " T~ T~ 

© © © © © © O O , . 
>»>% > » > * > . > % C C C 

<0 

£ 

• { N ( N ( N I N ( N ( N 0 ( N I ( N ( N ( N ( O C N O ) ( N { N 
M̂M R R-I T - R* V " V* T*" T"" T~ V""1 T""" 

U Q CL S TZ L- J~? 
© 53 FA 

- £ L I ~ 
O © © © 0 G> JO © © 

S S S S S I G S 
CM CM CM CM CM CM CM CM CO CO 

| | I G J S " § 

« M "IT ?S © 
H U ^ E C 
© © FL> O O 

X X X X X 
( O N C D O R 
I ^ H - N - O O C D 
CM <M YM CM CM CM CM CM 

O Q> ® 

S ( 3 5 _ 

= fc fc > 
© © © © 

I S 

2 S 

? . • § " « S « : 

£ I £ £ ( E ; 

O 

_ * 2 

3 G « - I -

I - J ( S J W G J Z 
: A) CQ O O S 5 ~ 
[ ( E J 3 

| <5 8 1 <•> 8 <2 $ 
1 CO CO CO CO CO CO 

E 5 § S S 5 S S S 8 S & S S 8 5 S 8 S S S & S 8 ? J : £ ! 5 2 ! 2 ? T S ? 8 S A A S I ! 3 S E 5 ^ G J 8 5 R S { S 
T— T - T - T - ^ T - T - C N I T N C M C M T N I C M C M C M C N C I C M C N C M C M C M C N I C M C M O I C N I C M I R L R S ^ J C M C M C N L CM CM ^ CM C4 CM CM 



91 

e 

8 
T> 

C 
m >. 

o 
O 
c 
o 

o 
$ 

c 
c 
o 

UJ o £ 
§ 
5 

6 

00 
"D 
c 
CO 
-J 
<0 

to 

8. 
W 
3 

c 
o 

to 

8. 

b 
o 
to 
ti 

5 
tj 

c 
<0 
"55 I M 

o 
O 

<0 
•C 
(0 6 

c 
Si "5 s - 0 2 
o 

s 
8 _j 

o 
—i 
0) 

3 <S —1 © 
© . * c 

<0 
2 

c 
t: 
(0 
2 

1 
to 
2 

c 
<D 

£ 
3 

s 
a 

CD 
(0 

10 

2 
a 

5 
<0 « 

Si-
l l 
c m 
- O 
o o 
22 
a 

c 
o 

& 

3 
"O 
ro 
o> 
2 
<D 
£ 

C 
0 . 
1 C 

l « 
6 ° 

j 2 
5 a 
0) di 
2 2 

3 
13 
45 
C 
ra 

5 s 

I § I 
I I I 

l i s 

i f i 
£ 25 c 
b o o 
2 2 2 

o 

o 
O 
& 

(Q C 
B-
<D flj 
c 2 

8 "§ 
55 

& 
8 
6 >* 

3 
2 

e 
o 
0 
<0 a> | 

S £ 
1 
Z 
<D 

£ 

SI 
OS 

a)<i)o<u<i)O<ua>oooQjOQ)O(i)a)(ua>oO0<i)(u<ij<ijQ)o<i»o<ua)o<D0flj<i)flj<i)<yooo<DOOo >.>,>,>.>» C ^,>C C C >> C >. C >,>»>,>. >v C > > > , > > . > I > > » C ^^^>»>»>s>,>,>,>nC c c >» c c c 
<NN.CNrsfCNJ<*-CMfMCN|0)CM(M(MCMCMCMr-CNT-<*>(MCMCNCOCN^fM<N<Dx-mCMCMCM(OCM(MCMCNCOO>liOOOCMmCMCM 
r— T-T—T- T— T— T— T~ T~ T— T- t— T~ r~ T— T~ T— T~" T~ T~T— *— T— T~ •*— T— •*— *— •*— T~ T- T-

f i * 

T3 fe » >9 -g C 
Q) j? 5 ° Xi 1 CO o « q « 

o 
O 

s i 

I l l s 1 1 1 1 

I I I ! u s ! 

f a i l ' s 
5 5 Q 4 5 s « Z - & » § § 
•s T }? 5 -g g O ® S f 5 S 

«J-5i C fc 12 « 43 o % 0 u 

1 P 3 H 3 Jj2 2 2 2 2 2 2 P 2 2 2 
jT-WCO^IflNCOOONCOmOT-tMQ^tf) 
; s s a a s s s s s $ 8 8 8 8 8 8 8 $ 

* g 

CO 
1= 

3 
ts 

c c 
s a £ d i 
~ m -•=: r- CO 
U I F - f * 
& - r h & 4 5 S " g | 

g s | s s i i ! i 

i i i i i l s i i 
o a > o < i > © . E o o o 
2222X2222 

O T-
h- 1̂  
CO <0 

(MCO^ION© OCOtf) 
?>?>S>?)S5?58C8?S 

CO CO 

3 CB (5 
2 2 Z 

_ h» CO 
sssss 

5CJSSS^SSS2!iS^£22:H2S!^S22,9 
COCOCOCOCOCO^'^'^Xf^^^^^J-^UD 
M CM W "• " 

cm co m <o î  -̂  .. .. 
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TABLED 
INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATIONS 

PER STANDARD INDUSTRY CLASSIFICATION CODE IN COMPUSTAT 

Basic Capital Consumer 
Industries Goods Construction Goods Transportation Energy 
1000-1299 3400-3419 1500-1999 0000-0999 3720-3799 1300-1399 
1400-1499 3440-3599 2400-2499 2000-2399 4000-4799 2900-2999 
2600-2699 3620-3629 3220-3299 2500-2599 5170-5179 
2800-2829 3670-3699 3430-3439 2700-2799 
2870-2899 3800-3849 5200-5219 2830-2869 
3300-3399 5080-5089 

5100-5129 
5160-5169 
7300-7399 

3000-3219 
3420-3429 
3600-3619 
3630-3669 
3700-3719 
3850-3899 
3900-3999 
4830-4899 
5000-5079 
5090-5099 
5130-5159 
5180-5199 
5220-5999 
7000-7299 
7400-9999 

Source: Ali and Kumar, 1994; (Originally used by Sharpe, 1982) 
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TABLEE 
YEAR OF SFAS 106 ADOPTION 

Firms Adopting SFAS 106 in 1991 25 

Firms Adoption SFAS 106 in 1992 152 

Firms Adopting SFAS 106 in 1993 90 

Total Firms in Final Sample 268 

100 



TABLE F 
MARGINAL CHI-SQUARE AND LOGISTIC REGRESSION REPORTS 

ECONOMIC VARIABLE SET 

Variables Run Alone Chi-Square Marginal Chi-Square Alpha 

DERATIO 3.38 .08 
FUTDEBT 4.19 .02 

Marginal Chi-Square 

DERATIO 3.38 
FUTDEBT 8.39 5.01 .025 

FUTDEBT 4.19 
DERATIO 8.39 4.20 .03 

The following pages show the logistic regression reports supporting the results shown above. 
On these regressions reports, DERATIO = COL 13 and FUTDEBT = COL3. 
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Logistic Regression Report 

Page 
Database 
Time/Date 
Response 

1 

21:25:02 05-22-1996 
COL4 

Parameter Estimation Section 
Regression Standard Chi-Square Prob 

Variable Coefficient Error Beta=0 Level 
Intercept 2.36149 0.2184912 116.82 0.000000 
COL13 9.35059E-03 5.120328E-03 3.33 0.067825 

Model Summary Section 

Last 
R-Squared 
0.305150 
0.012382 

Model Model Model Model 
R-Squared D.F. Chi-Square Prob 
0.012558 1 3.38 0.065870 

Classification Table 
Predicted 

Actual 0 1 Total 
0 Count 1.00 23.00 24.00 

Row Percent 4.17 95.83 100.00 
Column Percent 100.00 8.61 8.96 

1 Count 0.00 244.00 244.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 91.39 91.04 

Total Count 1.00 267.00 268.00 
Row Percent 0.37 99.63 
Column Percent 100.00 100.00 

Percent Correctly Classified=91.42 
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Logistic Regression Report 

Page 1 
Database 
Time/Date 21:23:17 05-22-1996 
Response COL4 

Parameter Estimation Section 
Regression Standard Chi-Square Prob 

Variable Coefficient Error Beta=0 Level 
Intercept 2.701971 0.3114589 75.26 0.00000< 
COL3 -0.8848938 0.4317751 4.20 0.04042C 

Model Summary Section 
Model Model Model Model 
R-Squared D.F. Chi-Square Prob 
0.015502 1 4.19 0.040697 

Classification Table 
Predicted 

Actual 0 1 Total 
0 Count 0.00 24.00 24.00 

Row Percent 0.00 100.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 8.96 8.96 

1 Count 0.00 244.00 244.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 91.04 91.04 

Total Count 0.00 268.00 268.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 
Column Percent 100.00 100.00 

Last 
R-Squared 
0.220534 
0.015545 

Percent Correctly Classified=91.04 
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Logistic Regression Report 

Page 
Database 
Time/Date 
Response 

1 

21:21:40 05-22-1996 
COL4 

Parameter Estimation Section 
Regression 

Variable Coefficient 
Intercept 2.802676 
COL3 -0.9891951 
COL13 1.076903E-02 

Model Summary Section 
Model Model 
R-Squared D.F. 
0.030702 2 

Classification Table 

Standard 
Error 
0.3274047 
0.4436685 
5.248668E-03 

Model 
Chi-Square 
8.39 

Chi-Square 
Beta=0 
73.28 
4.97 
4.21 

Model 
Prob 
0.015043 

Prob 
Level 
0.000000 
0.025775 
0.040193 

Last 
R-Squared 
0.216622 
0.018413 
0.015637 

Actual 
0 Count 

Row Percent 
Column Percent 

Predicted 
0 

1.00 
4.17 

100.00 

1 
23.00 
95.83 
8.61 

Total 
24.00 

100.00 
8.96 

1 Count 
Row Percent 
Column Percent 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

244.00 
100.00 
91.39 

244.00 
100.00 
91.04 

Total Count 
Row Percent 
Column Percent 

1.00 
0.37 

100.00 

267.00 
99.63 

100.00 

268.00 

Percent Correctly Classified=91.42 



TABLEG 
MARGINAL CHI-SQUARE AND LOGISTIC REGRESSION REPORTS 

SOCIO-POLITICAL VARIABLE SET 

Run Alone Chi-$qwe Marginal Chi-Square Alpha 

SIZE 
UNLAB 

5.58 
3.31 

.02 

.08 

Marginal Chi-Square 

SIZE 
SIZE + UNLAB 

5.58 
9.73 4.15 .04 

UNLAB 
UNLAB + SIZE 

3.31 
9.73 6.42 .01 

The following pages show the regression reports from which these numbers were obtained. 
On the regression reports, SIZE = COL23 and UNLAB = COL7 
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Logistic Regression Report 

Page 1 
Database • 

Time/Date 21:19:24 05-22-1996 
Response COL4 

Parameter Estimation Section 
Regression Standard Chi-Square Prob 

Variable Coefficient Error Beta=0 Level 
Intercept -4.638411 2.949204 2.47 0.11577: 
COL23 0.3281116 0.1407348 5.44 0.01973" 

Model Summary Section 
Model Model Model Model 
R-Squared D.F. Chi-Square Prob 
0.020550 1 5.58 0.018155 

Classification Table 
Predicted 

Actual 0 1 Total 
0 Count 0.00 24.00 24.00 

Row Percent 0.00 100.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 8.96 8.96 

1 Count 0.00 244.00 244.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 91.04 91.04 

Total Count 0.00 268.00 268.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 
Column Percent 100.00 100.00 

Last 
R-Squared 
0.009214 
0.020025 

Percent Correctly Classified=91.04 
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Logistic Regression Report 

Page 1 
Database 
Time/Date 21:02:41 05-22-1996 
Response COL4 

Parameter Estimation Section 
Regression Standard Chi-Square Prob 

Variable Coefficient Error Beta=0 Level 
Intercept 1.932116 0.2870161 45.32 0.00000< 
COL7 1.674003 0.9864018 2.88 0.08968' 

Model Summary Section 
Model Model Model Model 
R-Squared D.F. Chi-Square Prob 
0.012293 1 3.31 0.068836 

Classification Table 
Predicted 

Actual 0 1 Total 
0 Count 0.00 24.00 24.00 

Row Percent 0.00 100.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 8.96 8.96 

1 Count 0.00 244.00 244.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 91.04 91.04 

Total Count 0.00 268.00 268.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 
Column Percent 100.00 100.00 

Last 
R-Squared 
0.145563 
0.010711 

Percent Correctly Classified=91.04 
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Logistic Regression Report 

Page 1 
Database 
Time/Date 20:58:50 05-22-1996 
Response COL4 

Parameter Estimation Section 
Regression Standard Chi-Square Prob 

Variable Coefficient Error Beta=0 Level 
Intercept -5.710834 3.050581 3.50 0.061200 
COL7 1.906435 1.007149 3.58 0.058371 
COL23 0.3578805 0.1440821 6.17 0.012997 

Model Summary Section 
Model Model Model Model 
R-Squared D.F. Chi-Square Prob 
0.035418 2 9.73 0.007711 

Classification Table 
Predicted 

Actual 0 1 Total 
0 Count 0.00 24.00 24.00 

Row Percent 0.00 100.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 8.96 8.96 

1 Count 0.00 244.00 244.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 91.04 91.04 

Total Count 0.00 268.00 268.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 
Column Percent 100.00 100.00 

Percent Correctly Classified=91.04 

Last 
R-Squared 
0.013052 
0.013341 
0.022752 



TABLEH 
MARGINAL CHI-SQUARE AND LOGISTIC REGRESSION REPORT 

JOINT DECISION SET 

Run Alone Chi-Square Marginal Chi-Square Alpha: 

JTADOPT 
NINEEFF 
NINEMETH 

11.02 
3.65 
6.13 

.0009 
.08 
.01 

Marginal Chi-Square 

JTADOPT 11.29 
JTADOPT + NINEEFF 14.13 
JTADOPT + NINEMETH 15.27 

3.11 
4.25 

.08 
.05 

NINEEFF 3.65 
NINEEFF + JTADOPT 14.13 
NINEEFF + NINEMETH 8.63 

10.48 
4.98 

.001 
.03 

NINEMETH 6.13 
NINEMETH + JTADOPT 15.27 
NINEMETH + NINEEFF 8.63 

9.14 
2.50 

.005 
.12 

The following pages show the regression reports from which above numbers were obtained. 
On the regression reports, NINEMETH = COL26, JTADOPT = COL27, and 
NINEEFF = COL28. 
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Logistic Regression Report 

Page 
Database 
Time/Date 
Response 

1 

21:40:24 05-22-1996 
COL4 

Parameter Estimation Section 
Regression Standard Chi-Square 

Variable Coefficient Error Beta=0 
Intercept 1.386294 0.3100868 19.99 
COL27 1.473305 0.4384874 11.29 

Model Summary Section 
Model Model Model Model 
R-Squared D.F. Chi-Square Prob 
0.039789 1 11.02 0.00090( 

Classification Table 
Predicted 

Actual 0 1 
0 Count 0.00 24.00 

Row Percent 0.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 8.96 

1 Count 0.00 244.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 91.04 

Total Count 0.00 268.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 
Column Percent 100.00 100.00 

Percent Correctly Classified=91.04 

Prob 
Level 
0.000008 
0.000780 

Last 
R-Squared 
0.069887 
0.040713 

Total 
24.00 

100.00 
8.96 

244.00 
100.00 
91.04 

268.00 
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Logistic Regression Report 

Page 
Database 
Time/Date 
Response 

1 

21:42:06 05-22-1996 
COL4 

Parameter Estimation Section 
Regression Standard Chi-Square 

Variable Coefficient Error Beta=0 
Intercept 2.2707 0.2158374 110.68 
COL28 9.739105 5.618223 3.00 

Model Summary Section 
Model Model Model Model 
R-Squared D.F. Chi-Square Prob 
0.013603 1 3.65 0.05591! 

Classification Table 
Predicted 

Actual 0 1 
0 Count 0.00 24.00 

Row Percent 0.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 8.99 

1 Count 0.00 243.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 91.01 

Total Count 0.00 267.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 
Column Percent 100.00 100.00 

Percent Correctly Classified=91.01 

Prob 
Level 
0.000000 
0.083009 

Last 
R-Squared 
0.294611 
0.011212 

Total 
24.00 

100.00 
8.99 

243.00 
100.00 
91.01 

267.00 
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Logistic Regression Report 

Page 
Database 
Time/Date 
Response 

1 

21:36:35 05-22-1996 
COL4 

Parameter Estimation Section 
Regression 

Variable Coefficient 
Intercept 1.098612 
COL26 1.431551 

Model Summary Section 
Model Model 
R-Squared D.F. 
0.022524 1 

Classification Table 

Standard 
Error 
0.4714045 
0.5312274 

Model 
Chi-Square 
6.13 

Chi-Square 
Beta=0 

5.43 
7.26 

Model 
Prob 
0.013295 

Prob 
Level 
0.019779 
0.007043 

Last 
R-Squared 
0.020010 
0.026575 

Actual 
0 Count 

Row Percent 
Column Percent 

Predicted 
0 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

1 
24.00 

100.00 
8.96 

Total 
24.00 

100.00 
8.96 

1 Count 
Row Percent 
Column Percent 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

244.00 
100.00 
91.04 

244.00 
100.00 
91.04 

Total Count 
Row Percent 
Column Percent 

0.00 
0.00 

100.00 

268.00 
100.00 
100.00 

268.00 

Percent Correctly Classified=91.04 
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Logistic Regression Report 

Page 
Database 
Time/Date 
Response 

1 

21:50:33 05-22-1996 
COL4 

Parameter Estimation Section 
Regression 

Variable Coefficient 
Intercept 1.365409 
COL27 1.44559 
COL28 10.42803 

Model Summary Section 
Model Model 
R-Squared D.F. 
0.050820 2 

Classification Table 

Standard 
Error 
0.3119996 
0.4426637 
6.100843 

Model 
Chi-Square 
14.13 

Chi-Square 
Beta=0 
19.15 
10.66 
2.92 

Model 
Prob 
0.000853 

Prob 
Level 
0.000012 
0.001092 
0.087400 

Actual 
0 Count 

Row Percent 
Column Percent 

Predicted 
0 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

1 
24.00 

100.00 
8.99 

Total 
24.00 

100.00 
8.99 

1 Count 
Row Percent 
Column Percent 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

243.00 
100.00 
91.01 

243.00 
100.00 
91.01 

Total Count 
Row Percent 
Column Percent 

0.00 
0.00 

100.00 

267.00 
100.00 
100.00 

267.00 

Last 
R-Squared 
0.067639 
0.038828 
0.010946 

Percent Correctly Classified=91.01 
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Logistic Regression Report 

Page 
Database 
Time/Date 
Response 

1 

21:48:09 05-22-1996 
COL4 

Parameter Estimation Section 
Regression 

Variable Coefficient 
Intercept 0.4128105 
COL26 1.216268 
COL27 1.36871 

Model Summary Section 
Model Model 
R-Squared D.F. 
0.054493 2 

Classification Table 

Standard 
Error 
0.5268065 
0.5542518 
0.4467115 

Model 
Chi-Square 
15.27 

Chi-Square 
Beta=0 

0.61 
4.82 
9.39 

Model 
Prob 
0.000483 

Prob 
Level 
0.433269 
0.028204 
0.002184 

Last 
R-Squared 
0.002312 
0.017847 
0.034214 

Predicted 
Actual 0 1 Total 
0 Count 0.00 24.00 24.00 

Row Percent 0.00 100.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 8.96 8.96 

1 Count 0.00 244.00 244.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 91.04 91.04 

Total Count 0.00 268.00 268.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 
Column Percent 100.00 100.00 

Percent Correctly Classified=91.04 
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Logistic Regression Report 

Page 1 
Database 
Time/Date 21:44:51 05-22-1996 
Response COL4 

Parameter Estimation Section 
Regression Standard Chi-Square Prob 

Variable Coefficient Error Beta=0 Level 
Intercept 1.175186 0.4786614 6.03 0.014083 
COL26 1.292193 0.5385145 5.76 0.016415 
COL28 8.297219 5.789137 2.05 0.151789 

Model Summary Section 
Model Model Model Model 
R-Squared D.F. Chi-Square Prob 
0.031649 2 8.63 0.013378 

Classification Table 
Predicted 

Actual 0 1 Total 
0 Count 0.00 24.00 24.00 

Row Percent 0.00 100.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 8.99 8.99 

1 Count 0.00 243.00 243.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 91.01 91.01 

Total Count 0.00 267.00 267.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 
Column Percent 100.00 100.00 

Percent Correctly Classified=91.01 

Last 
R-Squared 
0.022323 
0.021344 
0.007721 
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Logistic Regression Report 

Page 
Database 
Time/Date 01:33:18 06-05-1996 
Response COL5 

Parameter Estimation Section 
Regression Standard Chi-Square Prob Last 

Variable Coefficient Error Beta=0 Level R-Squared 
Intercept 0.5017095 0.5317191 0.89 0.345394 0.003374 
COL26 *1.083666 0.5598724 3.75 0.052922 0.014045 
COL27 1.353268 0.4495325 9.06 0.002609 0.033310 
COL28 9.052611 6.271485 2.08 0.148892 0.007860 

Model Summary Section 
Model Model Model Model 
R-Squared D.F. Chi-Square Prob 
0.062400 3 17.50 0.000557 

Classification Table 
Predicted 

Actual 0 1 Total 
0 Count 0.00 24.00 24.00 

Row Percent 0.00 100.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 9.02 8.99 

I 

1 Count 1.00 242.00 243.00 
Row Percent 0.41 99.59 100.00 
Column Percent 100.00 90.98 91.01 

Total Count 1.00 266.00 267.00 
Row Percent 0.37 99.63 
Column Percent 100.00 100.00 

Percent Correctly Classified=90.64 



TABLE I 
MARGINAL CHI-SQUARE AND LOGISTIC REGRESSION REPORTS 

PARSIMONIOUS VARIABLE SET 

Run Alone Chi-Square Marginal Chi-Square Alpha = 

ECON SET 8.39 .02 
POLIT SET 9.73 .01 
JT ADOPT SET 17.50 .001 

Marginal Chi-Square 

ECON 8.39 
ECON + POLIT 17.67 9.28 .01 
ECON+ JT ADOPT 26.31 17.92 .001 

POLIT SET 9.73 
POLIT + ECON 17.67 7.94 .01 
POLIT+ JT ADOPT 32.26 22.53 .0001 

JT ADOPT SET 17.50 
JT ADOPT + ECON 26.31 8.81 .03 
JT ADOPT + POLIT 32.36 14.76 .001 

For the following regression reports: 
COL 13 = DERATIO; COL 3 = FUTDEBT; COL 7 = UNLAB; 
COL 23 = SIZE; COL 26 = NINEMETH; COL 27 = JT ADOPT; 
COL 28 = NINEEFF. 

11: 
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Page 
Database 
Time/Date 
Response 

Logistic Regression Report 

1 

21:54:13 05-22-1996 
COL4 

Parameter Estimation Section 
Regression Standard Chi-Square Prob Last 

Variable Coefficient Error Beta=0 Level R-Squared 
Intercept -11.09415 3.586312 9.57 0.001978 0.035368 
COL7 2.057504 1.051054 3.83 0.050281 0.014470 
COL23 0.507004 0.1621491 9.78 0.001767 0.036106 
COL26 1.220913 0.5776865 4.47 0.034562 0.016826 
COL27 1.803297 0.4913828 13.47 0.000243 0.049069 
COL28 11.45324 7.142108 2.57 0.108797 0.009757 

Model Summary Section 
Model Model 
R-Squared D.F. 
0.110013 5 

Model 
Chi-Square 
32.26 

Model 
Prob 
0.000005 

Classification Table 
Predicted 

Actual 0 1 Total 
0 Count 1.00 23.00 24.00 

Row Percent 4.17 95.83 100.00 
Column Percent 50.00 8.68 8.99 

1 Count 1.00 242.00 243.00 
Row Percent 0.41 99.59 100.00 
Column Percent 50.00 91.32 91.01 

Total Count 2.00 265.00 267.00 
Row Percent 0.75 99.25 
Column Percent 100.00 100.00 

Percent Correctly Classified=91.01 
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Logistic Regression Report 

Page 
Database 
Time/Date 
Response 

1 

21:56:32 05-22-1996 
COL4 

Parameter Estimation Section 
Regression Standard Chi-Square Prob Last 

Variable Coefficient Error Beta=0 Level R-Squared 
Intercept 1.165189 0.6143675 3.60 0.057885 0.013594 
COL3 -1.141808 0.470156 5.90 0.015158 0.022098 
COL13 1.060735E-02 5.634255E-03 3.54 0.059747 0.013398 
COL26 0.8087866 0.6192228 1.71 0.191508 0.006494 
COL27 1.560424 0.4741544 10.83 0.000998 0.039843 
COL28 10.49692 6.746789 2.42 0.119746 0.009189 

Model Summary Section 
Model Model Model Model 
R-Squared D.F. Chi-Square Prob 
0.091574 5 26.31 0.000078 

Classification Table 
Predicted 

Actual 0 1 Total 
0 Count 2.00 22.00 24.00 

Row Percent 8.33 91.67 100.00 
Column Percent 100.00 8.30 8.99 

1 Count 0.00 243.00 243.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 91.70 91.01 

Total Count 2.00 265.00 267.00 
Row Percent 0.75 99.25 
Column Percent 100.00 100.00 

Percent Correctly Classified=91.76 



120 

Logistic Regression Report 

Page 
Database 
Time/Date 
Response 

1 

23:02:58 05-22-1996 
COL4 

Parameter Estimation Section 
Regression Standard Chi-Square Prob Las* 

Variable Coefficient Error Beta=0 Level R-Squared 
Intercept -5.138402 3.17507 2.62 0.105585 0.009860 
COL7 2.029901 1.058999 3.67 0.055262 0.013778 
COL23 0.3542165 0.1505168 5.54 0.018606 0.020623 
COL3 -1.090864 0.4561427 5.72 0.016780 0.021283 
COL13 8.782226E-03 5.281536E-03 2.76 0.096349 0.010404 

Model Summary Section 
Model Model Model Model 
R-Squared D.F. Chi-Square Prob 
0.062966 4 17.67 0.001430 

Classification Table 
Predicted 

Actual 0 1 Total 
0 Count 1.00 23.00 24.00 

Row Percent 4.17 95.83 100.00 
Column Percent 100.00 8.61 8.96 

1 Count 0.00 244.00 244.00 
Row Percent 0.00 100.00 100.00 
Column Percent 0.00 91.39 91.04 

Total Count 1.00 267.00 268.00 
Row Percent 0.37 99.63 
Column Percent 100.00 100.00 

Percent Correctly Classified=91.42 



Logistic Regression Report 
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Page 
Database 
Time/Date 
Response 

1 

21:31:41 05-22-1996 
COL4 

Parameter Estimation Section 
Regression Standard Chi-Square Prob Last 

Variable Coefficient Error Beta=0 Level R-Squared 
Intercept -9.957911 3.686561 7.30 0.006910 0.027399 
COL7 2.091612 1.109439 3.55 0.059391 0.013537 
COL23 0.4822698 0.1666596 8.37 0.003807 0.031318 
COL3 -1.146509 0.4889776 5.50 0.019042 0.020785 
COL13 7.393811E-03 5.660312E-03 1.71 0.191466 0.006545 
COL26 1.070149 0.6288804 2.90 0.088817 0.011057 
COL27 1.855558 0.5072551 13.38 0.000254 0.049127 
COL28 12.50219 7.819274 2.56 0.109844 0.009774 

Model Summary Section 
Model Model Model Model 
R-Squared D.F. Chi-Square Prob 
0.131245 7 39.13 0.000002 

Classification Table 
Predicted 

Actual 0 1 Total 
0 Count 4.00 20.00 24.00 

Row Percent 16.67 83.33 100.00 
Column Percent 66.67 7.66 8.99 

1 Count 2.00 241.00 243.00 
Row Percent 0.82 99.18 100.00 
Column Percent 33.33 92.34 91.01 

Total Count 6.00 261.00 267.00 
Row Percent 2.25 97.75 
Column Percent 100.00 100.00 

Percent Correctly Classified=91.76 



TABLE J 
CORRELATION MATRIX FOR FINAL MODEL 

Pearson Correlations Section (Pair-Wise Deletion) 

COL7 COL23 COL3 COL13 
COL7 1.000000 -0.066445 0.004438 0.018909 
COL23 -0.066445 1.000000 0.050628 0.124558 
COL3 0.004438 0.050628 1.000000 0.056499 
COL13 0.018909 0.124558 0.056499 1.000000 
COL26 0.027699 0.000905 0.009014 0.267983 
COL27 -0.033206 -0.154992 0.028456 -0.053448 
COL28 0.144332 -0.061587 0.070295 0.020115 
Cronbachs Alpha = 0.024223 Standardized Cronbachs Alpha = 0.208181 

Pearson Correlations Section (Pair-Wise Deletion) 

COL28 
COL7 0.144332 
COL23 -0.061587 
COL3 0.070295 
COL13 0.020115 
COL26 0.090265 
COL27 0.088361 
COL28 1.000000 
Cronbachs Alpha = 0.024223 Standardized Cronbachs Alpha = 0.208181 

COL26 
0.027699 
0.000905 
0.009014 
0.267983 
1.000000 
0.127413 
0.090265 

COL27 
-0.033206 
-0.154992 
0.028456 

-0.053448 
0.127413 
1.000000 
0.088361 

COL 13 = DERATIO; COL 3 = FUTDEBT; COL 7 = UNLAB; 
COL 23 = SIZE; COL 26 = NINEMETH; COL 27 = JTADOPT; 
COL 28 = NINEEFF 
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TABLEK 
DETERMINATION OF PROBABILITIES FOR SIGNIFICANT VARIABLES 

Variable 

Value DERATIO FTJTDEBT SIZE IJNLAB JTADOPT NINEMETH NINEEFF 

"Zero" .973 .930 .857 .902 

10th Percentile .960 .903 .932 .943 

25th Percentile .961 .940 .939 .951 

1% below mean .961 .957 .961 .960 

At mean value .961 .961 .961 .961 .961 .961 .961 

1% above mean .961 .966 .961 .961 

75 th Percentile .961 .975 .973 .961 

90th Percentile .962 .998 .983 .962 

"One" .919 .99 .975 .964 
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